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Getting ready to leave Berkeley-

April 23 :  Learned the evening before that Japanese who wanted to l eave Berkeley 

had to get out by some time Friday or Saturday. Dean Hoyt s aid that it was 12 

noon Friday. Tamotsu called up and said that the WCCA had t old him that they 

had received instructions that it was 12 midnight. Later h e verified with the 

Provost Marshall's office and found out that it was 12 noo n. Someone else 

phoned in to Dr. D. Thomas and said that it was eight a.m. Saturday. Two other 

times that were heard were eight a.m. Friday, and eight p.m. F riday. Miss Christie 

told 

me that evening that she had received instructions saying that it was 12 noon, 

but that she had later verified with the Provost Marshal l and learned it was 

officially 12 noon the day before registration began. Funny how they cou ldn't 

get those things clearer in the beginning. 

The Dean's office, for instance, didn't seem to know too m uch about what was 

going on. I went in the morning to get a letter signed by Dr.  Deutsch,  which was 

said by Shiro Tokuno to be necessary to take to the S.F. off ice in order to leave Berkeley. The office girl had a great pile of names for whom she had to get out 
might 

letters, and said that she may not be able to finish them unt il late in the after-

noon. Someone else said that he had gotten his permit wit hout any sort of letter 

at all and didn't have to go to S.F. I talked with the gir l in the Dean's office 

to ask if these letters ware useless, but the answer was that  they were doing it 

on,the instructions of Dr. Deutsch, and they didn't seem t o want to verify any-

thing for themselves. It was later learned that only those who were leaving 

Zone 1 and those traveling after curfew, as well as those d esiring to join their 

family in reception centers, had to go to S. F. to get a per mit from the Provost 

Marshall's office. 
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I was busy all day trying to get all of my business cleared up, and to get in 

my lust moments of good time, too. In the morning I went to the Dean's office, 

end then went to say goodbye to Dr. Gundlach. He's been an awf ully friendly teacher 

and would have been popular with the students if he had been here longer. He's 

been quite an encouragement in writing my paper on the im pact of the war on the 

Japanese. 

I ate lunch with Doris and spent an hoir with her on the lawn. Then I went 

home and went to the bank, got my laundry, packed some of my books, got my tickets, 

and sent a telegram to May to meet me at the Sierra Madr e station. Then I went 

to the gym, took my last shower, and checked in my equi pment. I had to see 

Dr. Thomas and Miss Walne, but since I promised Doris to meet her at 4.30. Any-

way, I had to make the WCCA office by 5. We got to the office j ust as they were 

closing it. Miss Christie is an awfully pleasant and friendl y person. 

Then we went on to our respective homes. I had to take two boxe s of books to 

the Bukkyokai to have stored for the duration. By the time I ha d dressed and gone 

over to the Haste Street Haven, the kids had already gone to the China Tea. We 

had our last chop suey together. There were Kenny, Warren , Charlie, George 

Konoshima, Tamotsu, Doris, Yuki Kimura, Tomi, and Barry an d Bill Himmel came 

later. I walked Doris home, and sat talking with her on th e doorstep a few 

moments until nearly eight, but just shook hands and said goodbye. 

This morning I had planned to get up at five to finish my pack ing, but I didn't 

get up till six. When I got my things tied up and went after W arren to help me 

carry them out to the sidewalk, it was already time to call th e taxi. Warren 

didn't want to shake hands, because he thought it was too se ntimental, I suppose. 

Hid and Roy brought their rattletrap around, and I gave them m y cot and Mr. 

Nakagawa's army cot. 



By the.way, the night before I dropped in to see Mrs. Mizut a, to say goodbye. 

She was glad to see me, and was very friendly to me. We talke d for a while, 

while Mr. Yamasaki was giving instructions to his daughte r about collecting some 

money from his gardening client the next morning. The firs t place that she 

called up she said that she would like to call for the mon ey because she couldn't 

go after noon the next day. The man said that he couldn't get the money ready by 

Friday morning. "Would he then send it on Monday?' "Well, he  wasn't so sure." 
would 

"They/appreciate it because they didn't know whether they w ould be gone on Tuesday 

or Friday."'Well, he might." "All right, the address is.. .." "Tou needn't leave 

the address." 'Why?" "Well, this is wartime.Remember Pear l Harbor." The girl's 

face was flushed. She hung up. The man's name was Smith, 1 426 E. 23rd Street, 

Oakland. She called up another place, but she didn't seem t o be able to get 

any cooperation. V 

Mrs. Mizuta said that she was going to leave her radio in th e house when she 

left. I asked her if I could have it. Of course, she said. It wo uldn't do if I 

took it free, I said, but then she said that she wouldn't giv e it to me then. So 

I decided to let her give it to me. She said that she might se e me in Hiroshima. 

She thought that I should return to Japan after the war. I sa id that for Niseis 

it was no good wherever they went. 

I got to the station on time to check my baggage. Over 7 or 8 Japanese got 

on the same train. 

Looking back for the last time 

Slowly the train steamed out of the little station in Berkel ey. As I looked 

out of the window, I could 3ee the green hills dotted with ho uses.  *  Strange,  but 

I had not noticed the soft greeness before. Well, it wa s too late, because I 

was looking back for the la-st time. I remembered that i n the hurried retreat I 

had left my room in a turmoil. An Issei would have felt ait tiamed to leave a place 
his 

in less than perfect order, in order not to betray any confu sion in their min^. 



But it was too late now to think about the past, but I could not  help revie?/ing 

the events of the last two years in college. 

a 

This was the last time to look back, because we had/new li fe to face. Let 

the past bury its dead. We had our fun, we learned a few thi ngs, as well as 

some bad habits. But we*re starting a new mode of life, where many things are 

going to be on a new basis. 

April 24, 1942 

Train 

On the train played cards with Yeiji Kono, George Tajima, M as Nakata, and 

Kikuo Ogawa. Yeiji and George are old hands at bridge, and h ere I was trying to 

tell George how to play his hand. Then later when I was playi ng my own, I had 

to ask Yeiji how to play it. Yeiji was very glad to show me ho w to play my hand. 

College worth while? 

I asked whether they thought college was worth while, and t hey seemed to 

agree that it was. Mas and I discussed psychology and poli-s ci, and it was 

evident that we were proud of being able to discuss these th ings. 

Hanford personalities 

Mas was from Hanford, and we discussed some of the unique pe rsonalities. Ann 

Saito he didn't know much about. Yori Wada seems to have been another one of 

the crowd before he got to Cal. Tosh Magota, he says, has a lways gone around 

almost exclusively with Caucasians. He mentioned, when I a sked, that her farm 

was in a district where there weren't too many Japanese. But her attitude 

toward the Japanese has become more receptive, he said. 

Home 

Everything went off right on schedule. Got to L.A., took t he red car to 

Sierra Madre, and Kingo and Ruby were waiting for me. 



There ars ten people in the house, but I'll have to get to kn ow them better 

before I begin discussing them. The house is rather in a mess w ith things 

sprawled all over. I tried to type an article, but they see med to want to go to 

sleep early. It's about 10.30 or 11 now. I'd better knock o ff. 

April 25, 1942 
Saturday 

Browsing around in Pasadena 

George is working on a farm with Pete, and since today was hi s day off, we 

(George, Ruby, and I) went to see Duke. I hadn't seen Duke si nce he had left 

Massho in the fourth year. He wasn't changed very much, exce pt that he was 

huskier. Three or four families were living in his home, and he was getting 

ready to evacuate to Manzanar. He didn't want to go ther e because he had heard 

how bad it was, but somebody had already signed his whole fami ly up for it, and 

nothing could be done about it. We played ping-pong and th en tried to play shogl, 

talking all the while. 

Duke's life here in America has been quite after his perso nality. He's the 

active type who like to be doing things. Even while we sat around he wanted to 

play ping-pong more than just to sit around. He talks abo ut his friends, and 

not about anything abstract. Most of all, he wanted to tal k about his business 

dealings. He had landed in Seattle and worked as a clerk for  a while. Then he 

drifted down to L.A., where he worked again as a clerk for Fred Kobayashi. He 

worked at another store as a manager, before he found a chance to run his own 

retail store. He went broke and into debt on that. Then he went into the whole-

sale business, because he had seen how futureless retail stores were. He got 

into a partnership, and at-ppe&e»% and was in his ovm [busi ness?] until recently. 

He said that he could earn a lot more in the wholesale busines s by himself. He 

mentioned that.... 
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Duke's naturally proud of the business he was able to set up  for himself and 

the home and the furniture that he was able to get. Afte r the war he said that 

he would change his philosophy of life and not try to mak e too much money, but 

just enjoy himself. His wife, he said, learned a few thi ngs.... 

We left Duke at one and went to see a show. At the Strand we s aw "Paris 

Calling" and "Tuttles of Tahiti." The first picture was very adolescent and 

not worth seeing. The latter, with Charles Laughtcn,was a well-made picture for 

characterization of a carefree family in Tahiti. The plot was simple, but unified. 

Yesterday Tomoe announced that she and her husband, Pete , had arranged for a 

job for ire. They had asked me before, but I didn't exactly  say that I wanted to 

work. I didn't say anything for some time, because I had wanted to rest for a 

while. Also, I had thought of going to the WCCA to ask f or some expense money. 

Later I asked her what sort of work it was, and she said that it was the same as 

George's, which was cutting rhubarb.  > 

So today I went out to the fields at Pete's former place and h oed onions all 

day. The weeds had been allowed to grow thick and tall because of the impending 

evacuation. It required a full half-day to complete a sin gle row. There were 

about half a dozen others (Mexicans) working with us. In the morning it wasn't 

so bad, and in the afternoon I began to totter a little. Some  times I was just 

craŷ ling on all threes, naving to wield a hoe with one hand. Even then, I leaned 

upon it -when I could. But it really wasn't so bad as long as I d idn't try to go 

too fast. 

As I worked, I couldn't help thinking that more work could  be gotten out of 

the men if they were made to work 3teadily, but given regular ^ rest periods when 

they could smoke and drink water. About ten minutes every  hour might increase 

their efficiency a great deal. At least it ought to be wo rth trying. We had to 

work till six, when usually it was only till five. I fel t that it was unwise, 

because if the men thought that they might have to work an other hour, they would 

( 
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be leas likely to put all they had into their last hour. It s hould be remembered 

that men space their energy so as to be able to stand the s train of a day's work 

and still be ready for the next day. 

Today three boys from Pasadena were here to see May. They sai d that they had 

been to Pete's place to look for work. They are typical N iseis with a trace of 

rowdiness. They had a hopped-up car which zooms away as it p icks up. One fellow 

said that now he couldn't go out at night, he worked on his car all night. How-

ever, the fellows aren't afraid of roaming the streets at  night. 

One fellow complimentad May by saying that she looked an d spoke like a 

Hakujin. And May considered it a compliment. Very signi ficant of Nisei psychology. 
April 27, 1942 

This morning I was stiff from working in the onion patch yes terday.... In fact, 

I was so stiff that I could hardly move around. 

Today I took Ruby to Pasadena. First we went to the WCCA to s ee about some 

financial compensation. The man there didn't seem to kno w very much about it. It 

took him some time to find out on the phone wat to do. Fina lly, he sent'me to the 

Welfare Office in the City Hall. When I got there they me th at Sierra Madre was in 

the Alhambra County Welfare district. They said that they 'd call me up, and even 

bothered to look up a neighbor's phone number. I was sorta p erked up when they 

mentioned ire as a "case." I suppose people on relief do n't like to be referred to 

in that way. ?/hen I got home there was a phone call alread y, and in a few moments 

the Alhambra office called up to say that I should go to L .A. But I don't think 

that it's worth that much trouble. 

We did some shopping here and there. At Sears we looked aro und at some of the 

things, besides buying a cord, pants, ropes, socks, handk erchief, and other things. 

George brought home the news that Bobby Mimaki said that g irls are refusing 

to danoe at the oenters because the boys are acting too row dy. It's a very inter-

esting development, and I wonder how they're going to set tle the matter. Kingo 
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said that every Tom, Dick, and Harry from the slums should not be allowed to get 

in. He mentioned that a little dress here and there would help. It's a matter 

of raising barriers to keep out the "undesirables." It see ms to be the whole story-

all over again. How to keep up standards without becoming sn ooty and raising 

unnecessary barriers. I guess it just can't be done. 

Yesterday I noticed ttet when three boys were here to see Yae she looked so 

peppy. She's usually considerate, but sometimes when she' s washing dishes or 

something, she seems to be a bit sad, or at least bored. T onight she was dancing 

by herself as she listened to the radio. George offered to dance with her in his 

bath robe, but she didn't respond, so nothing came of it. I sat on the sofa 

smugly with my typewriter. What a life, what a life. 

April 28, 1942 

Work 

This morning it was raining and I was feeling as stiff as a board and creaked 

every time I made a move. But George insisted that I go to work, and I decided 

it wasn't worth the fuss to oppose him. I had already give n up looking up the 

WCCA about financial aid, if it meant going all the way over to L.A. At the 

ranch we protected ourselves well with boots and raincoat s, but after we worked 
it 

for a while, it ceased raining. We had to out rhubarb and pac k them-into boxes, 

and I was helping George fill up his boxes. We were workin g on a piece-rate basis, 

getting ten cents a box. In the morning after four hours o f work we had finished 

only 24. In the afternoon I packed my own boxes, and we fini shed 44 in all, 

working tillonly 4 p.m. Another fellow working with us com pleted 60. 

City slicker 

Last night something that Tomoye mentioned struck me as b eing significant. We 

were disoussing some business of hers, and she said that sh e didn't trust these 

"city slickers." She's brought up here in Sierra Madre , but is willing to go out 

to the farm to help Pete pack rhubarb. 



Dinner at the Booths 1 

As we were invited to dinner by the Booths of the Friends Ch urch, we quit 

our work an hour earlier, and scrubbed ourselves before we went. The four of us 

and Kingo went  together.  We had enough to talk about because they had been very 

much interested in the evacuation question. Mr. Booth and I disoussed some of the 

problems that came up and also the government officials. He said that Mr. 

Eisenhower was a man who was to be respected and trusted. M r. E. had said that 

he wouldn't do anything to stiok out his neck because that would give the 

reactionaries in Washington a chance to bring down the axe . But he was pre-

pared to do all he could for the Japanese. When I mentioned th at Mr. Neustadt 

was as good a man, he said that it was exhilarating to hear him sit and swear. 

He also said that he had thoight that Dr. Blaisdell of the  n I" House was a oold-

blooded and calm man, but was surprised to hear him at the I nternational Institute 

meeting raving about going to Washington and seeing Mr. Roo sevelt. Then I related 

that at a meeting of the Students' Committee he was all hea ted up over the un-

fairness of it all, and we Japanese students were trying to calm him down. 

At the dinner table we were saying that it would be very im portant that the 

person who went out to Caucasian communities be of the righ t sort, one who would 

make a good impression. We were thinking of the sort who ha s a good personality. 

Kingo mentioned that Japanese were too reserved. I sai d that it was the result 

of race-consciousness. Mr. Booth did not realize that the t raditional reserve 

of the Japanese was partly due to race-consciousness. 

Leaving camp for jobs 

To leave the camp for jobs there seems to be a list of qual ifications set 

by the Army: A job must be arranged for. Some influent ial person in the 

community must vouch for the good will of that community. T he police must 

promise to protect ths Japanese employed. At present t here seems to be little 



possibility of a mass movement of workers out of the camps. Bu t there is still 

hope that, with the help of outsiders, a few can get out o f the camps into jobs. 

Test oases 

Mr. Booth said that he thought that someone ought to star t a test case for 

some cf  the things such as taking away property without due proces s of law. He 

thought that if a decision were rendered right away it wou ld be adverse. How-

ever, if it were to drag through the courts till after the war, it would have a 

good chance of receiving favorable attention. Such a thing would be the basis for 

future action in favor of the Japanese. 

After the War 

Mr. Booth mentioned that what he feared most was the eoon omic dislocation after 

we 

the war which we would have to go through. Hoy were to do that, we didn't know. 

I suggested that some of the settlements should be permanen t so that we'd have 

some place to stay. On the other hand, Kingo was afraid tha t places like Santa 

Anita would be used as a permanent residence. Mr. Booth s aid that that would 

occur only in places where the people wanted labor cheaply w ith little labor trouble. 

He mentioned that Mr. Eisenhower was aware of that problem . 

Effect of Dinner 

It was good to have spoken to Mr. and Mrs. Booth and their  daughter, Jean, 

because it reaffirmed our faith in the American people. Ge orge, especially, who 

had been saying that he didn't trust any Hakujins, thought t hat as long as such 

people were working hard for us, we couldn't let them down . He suggested that we 

take some rhubarb down to them tomorrow. 

Wednesday, April 18, 1942 

Work 

Today George and I helped the Mexicans plant onions and p ick cabbage seedlings 

in the morning, and plant cabbage all afternoon. All I did w as to lay out the 

seedlings, so it wasn't so bad, but some of the men and Geor ge had to plant all 

of the time, and it was probably pretty tough. 



Christians 

Something that Mr. Booth said about Christians and Caucas ians should be 

recorded. He seems to detest these Christians who try to d o things only for their 

own group. I mentioned the Farm Cooperative Plan, which specified Christians. He 

mentioned that the Japanese heads of the churches were m uch more reasonable on that 

score, and it wouldn^t)have been a lot better if there had b een no Caucasians 

mixed up in some of the affairs. 

Kids from Pasadena 

There were six kids from Pasadena cutting rhubarb. They wer e out of work 

because many of the fruit stands had shifted to American m anagement. In the 

morning they picked 60 boxes. 

Thursday, April 19 

Work 

Today George, Pete, and I were mixing fertilizer just abou t all day long. 

It vías a dusty and smelly job, but tonight I don't feel stif f at all. The 

kids from Pasadena came again today. One of them did twenty  in the morning and 

ten more in the afternoon, which is equal to a man's work. 

Jews 

Today the three of us were talking about evacuation, and bo th George and 

Pate seem to agree that the Jews were behind most of the di rty work. They seem 

to think that the Hakujins were not so bad. 

Fertilizer salesman turns farmer 

The Hakujin who took over Mimaki's farm used to be a ferti lizer salesman. He 

doesn't seem to have much money on hand, but he seems to b e getting along all right. 

He'll probably have to hire more men than tte Mimakis did bec ause he doesn't work 

very much, and both Mr. and Mrs. Mimaki did. 
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Pure Nisei 

Recently both May and George mentioned that I would probab ly prefer the "pure" 

type of Nisei, meaning, I suppose, the kind that did n't have a lot of Japanese 

education. I used to feel that it Wis quite important that wh omever I marri-ad 

should have been to Japan. But during the last year in col lege, I think I 

changed ray mind. The fact that I was accepted by progressive girls might have 

accounted for it. The fact that I got along with Doris is a testimony of it. 

Sex Education 

Today my things came. The radio that Mrs. Mizuta gave me was in good 

condition. 1*11 have to write to her and to Mr.Nakagawa. I had told Yaye 

about my pamphlet on marriage and contraception, and she was eager to read it. 

She retreated to a bedroom to read it, and we were teasing he r a while about 

I 4, 

it. She insisted that we were treat$#ja sacred subject in a dirty way. She was 

as nonchalant as she could be, saying that she was modern . Tomoye thought that 

Pete ought to read it, too. When Pete said that he knew all that sort of thing, 

she retorted that he didn't. Might be, might be. 

Friday, May 1, 1942 

Rowdies 

Today that fellow that picked 40 boxes of rhubarb came ar ound after he was 

through with work, and talked to us as we were hoeing in th e berry patch. He 

mentioned that he had gone to Santa Anita to speak to a fr iend, and that it was 

mentioned that a girl left a show alone and five boys poun ced upon her. 

I told it to Bobby, although George felt that I shouldn't t ell it, and she 

said that she had heard from some friends not in the cam p that they were disgusted 

with the socials. 

At the dinner table it provided quite a steady flow of conv ersation. There 

was an insistence that rowdies were horrible people. We  heard today that the rest 
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of the area was to be evacuated to Pomona between the tent h and the sixteenth, 

and both Bobby and those at home said that it would be a wful because we would be 

going with the L.A. Boyle Heights bunch» Kingo,especial ly, seemed to have an 

aversion to "these Niseis," who, he believes, go around in gangs. That is, I 

suppose, an outsider's view of a Nisei group. 

May and several of the others contributed incidents of men, especially 

middleaged married Japanese men, trying to "pet" girls. Do ctors, too, they 

thought were awful. Such experiences when they were youn g men were also mentioned. 

I said that it was "natural," and there was a burst of prote st. So I kept still. 

May mentioned that a soldier with whom she had been corre sponding and who 

came to visit her had told her of seeing Japanese soldier s rape women and even 

children. He attributed such cases to "dokata" (laborers) from the mines (they 

are supposed to be "tough" or "rowdy," as I would say it), wh om the superior 

officers could not restrain beoause they had to stand in we ll with the men. He 

is supposed to have related that such incidents occurre d even while the fighting 

went on. He picked up the body of a mistreated child, and felt extremely dis-

gusted. Ruby thought, probably quite correctly, that such acts were the result 

of a bare minority, "scum of the earth," as Kingo might have d esoribed them. 

Kingo thought that .American soldiers would never have d one such a thing, even though 

they might have seduced a girl. Well, maybe he didn't hear o f that case of rape 

of a small girl who bit the soldier's hand, and he was disco vered that night. 

Tom Uchiyarna 

That fellow mentioned T.U. and Yaye also alluded to him in  connection with 

rowdyism. He seems to have made quite a name for himself. H e said that Tom was 

a very strong boxer, and he had seen him knock out a Hakujin b igger than himself 

with two slugs. Kids didn't oppose him when he was arou nd. His mix-up with 

George Furutani in connection with Mirio seems to be well k nown. George was 
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beaten up, I believe, and he sued Tom. Tom was fined $15.00, th e fellow said, 

and was warned to keep sway from George. Tom eventually vo lunteered for the Army. 

Rhubarb pioker 

For want of the real name I'm calling him this. He said that he u sed to 

get from $30.00 to $35.00 a week working at the Farmers' Ma rket for a Hakujin. 

He used to take it too easy, he said. He used to stay up all ni ght playing poker 

or something. Before that he seems to have been on good term s with some Of the 

"tough" kids in L.A. and didn't have to be running away fro m them, as some of the 

other kids in Pasadena had to do. He had to train two other ki ds and was then 

fired. The place looks like a mess, he says. They cut the ce lery square, etc* 

Since he's come out to the country to work, he feels that he won't be able to 

spend the money as easily as he has been doing. He said that he wanted to get 

out of California. He was going to send his brother out if he could by enrolling 

him in school. His sister is already out in Idaho. He doe sn't think that it's 

safe for the girls in camp. He's an easy fellow to get alo ng with, it seems, 

in spite of his somewhat rowdy behavior. 

Mongolian 

There was one fellow hanging around after work who was inter esting. Someone 

passed by and called several of the young kids Japs and ca lled him Mongolian. 

He rushed at him, but only butted into him harmlessly. He tri ed to make a pre-

tense of acting "tough," as if he would jab a knife into s omeone if he had one. 

Saturday, May 2, 1942 

Shopping and show 

Today was Saturday and we went to Pasadena and to a show. In t he morning we 

first went to get our pay. I made $16.50 for the first week.  For our shopping 

we went Woolworth and wandered about the store for some time. George and Ruby 

seemed to be anxious to get into a show, and so we saw King's Row and Honolulu Lu 

without doing any more shopping. King's Row was a very fi ne picture. It had 

unity and a mood all its own. The acting and characterizat ion was good, I thought. 



George 

I was thinking of going to Santa Anita tomorrow with Rub y to see Georgia. 

But George hints around that I should go to work. So to  fforic  I must go, it seems. 

Unfair 

Yaye mentioned tonight that many of the Niseis thought tha t we were being 

treated unfairly. She said that we can stand so much, but th at theie»s a limit, 

as when they try to take away our citizenship. Kingo though t that the JACL was 

right in taking the attitude of full cooperation — "beir g so good that it's 

pitiful." May mentioned that Mr. Booth said that many Am ericans were feeling sheepish 

because the Japanese were taking it so well* I thought that we should atart to 

stand up for our legal rights, but Kingo didn't agree, Mrs . T. said that the 

Americans were trying to take away the property of the Japa nese, and wanted to 

know whether it was true. 

Evacuation rumors 

Bobby told us that a friend -who had gone down to tte WC CA office heard that 

the rest of the districts that have not been evacuated would be sent to Pomona 

between the tenth and the sixteenth. This seems to be true . This was partially 

confirmed today by one of May's friends who said that the evacuation orders for 

this district would come out in a few days. 

Kaizoji 

We went to see Kaizoji in his place of work today. He is cl eaning vegetables 

at the same store he has been working in for several yea rs. He is without pep, 

and seems to have lost interest in life. 

Toshi Sato 

Ruby has been worrying about Toshi because he is all alon e. We spoke to 

Kaizoji and decided that he should come to Pasadena to the h otel owned by his 

relation so that Toshi can be with friends. Ruby was goi ng to call him up, but 

she wasn't feeling very well tonight. 



Sleepy 

I have begun to read books till eleven, and I'm sleepy tonig ht. Maybe the 

load is too much for me. How to get work done and social li fe and my study, too! 

I'll have to work out a simple routine if I am going to co ver the ground that 

I want to. 

Sunday, May 3, 1942 

A Day of Rest 

I thought I was going to have to work today, but the morning newspaper 

brought news that changed the schedule of the day for me . New evacuation orders 

for two districts in Los Angeles came out, and we thought t hat Toshi Sato was 

included. George thought that we ought to go and get him t o come to stay in 

Pasadena, where he would be with friends. I was, of course,  glad to go, and 
\ 

Ruby and I took George's Ford on an all-day ride. 

Toshi Sato 

We got to L.A. safely. When we passed through Little Tokyo we found most of 

the stores closed, and hardly any people around. About noo n there were some 

people on the streets, and several eating places seemed to be open. We bought some 

back copies of the Nichibei at the Taishusha. 

Toshi was staying at the Yamato Hotel, The hotel seemed alm ost empty and 

barren. Toshi came out in his bathrobe. He said that he usua lly slept till 

noon because he stayed up late playing oards. When we told him that he might 

come to Pasadena, he said that he couldn't. We wanted to know whether he had 

anyone he could move with, and he said that he was not entir ely with people who 

might take him in. Ruby felt that he was making a mistak e, but he wouldn't budge. 

Sadako Kaizoji 

Ruby decided that we should go to see their friend Kaizoj i, who lived on Wall 

Street near Fifth. When we went up to their room the father w as in bed, taking 

some electrical treatment for postrate glands. He seeme d to be an energetic and 

intelligent man. The mother was eiotic looking, fat and q uite jolly with a 



with a wholesome laugh. Mr. Kaizoji thought that the war mi ght be over in two 

or three years when Japan took Australia and India, and the n ew administration took 

over after Roosevelt. He saw no hope of peace while he was in office. He thought 

that the Japanese might have a good chance in Java after the war. The Japanese 

government might lend the Japanese some money and give t hem some land. 

Sadako herself was a beauty of the Japanese type. She came i n smiling and 

with a bright personality, talking away in Japanese. I was su rprised because 

she spoke Japanese so well. It must have been because I had been to college so 

long and hadn't been around in Uihonjin-machi. 

Ruby thinks that she is just the right type for George. A s a type, probably 

yes. But she is probably a little too young and immature f or him, 

Ritsuko Hirooka  , 

On the way to the Nakamuras' we stopped in at Ritsy's pl ace for a few minutes. 

Most of the time Ruby and she were talking about Betty. Her h usband had been 

taken, but came back again. Ruby had thought that Betty had g one to Seattle to 

her mother's place, but she hadn't. We would have gone to s ee her if we had known 

she was still in L.A. Ruby said that Ritsuko had been sick an d had to take a 

rest cure. I noticed that she was thin. 

Nakamura's 

At the Nakamuras' the Mr. greeted us good-naturedly in his empty house. They 

had rented the place and were ready to move out the next day. T hey had several 

boxes of canned fruit packed up to take with them, because they had heard that 

the food situation was not so good. Mrs. Nakamura came ba ck from church in time 

to talk to us. Her car could have been sold for $800.00, b ut she decided to ksep 

it. Her dog had been given away, but she got it back agai n. She intends to 

have one of the Maryknoll fathers take it in for them. 



Nakajimas 

At Tachan's place we found their furniture there yet, but boxes and trunks in 

the living room. Sam greeted me in a sheepish sort of way . We talked about the 

war. He was thinking of falling back on his mechanic's tra ining, and was going 

to take his tools with him to camp in hope of a job. His home he had bought for 

£5,000.00 and was able to sell for that amount. But one of his stores he had to 

sell on the day he left, and he only received $350.00 or so f or something which 

was worth $1,000.00 to $1200.00. His $1300.00 truck he sol d for $800.00. He 

couldn't get much for his car because the tires were bad. 

Mr. Nakajima was jolly as ever. He talked about going to Aust ralia or Java. 

He mentioned that the Japanese Government had broadcaste d that tte Japanese in 

America only needed to keep their lives, safe. After the war they would be 

furnished with capital and land to resettle in Asia. I sai d that then it would 

be a real vacation for us in the camps because all we had t o do was to sit and 

wait for the end of the war — if we could trust the offer of the Japanese 

Government. Tachan seemed to be of that mind, too, because she said that Niseis 

would have better chances than the people from Japan beca use the former would be 

able to get along with other nationalities. Ruby said that she was surprised 

that people who were so Americanized, as she said, should say such a thing. 

The last time she had visited them they had declared tha t they were going to 

live and die in America. She said that it was all because of the evacuation. 

Many people, she said, would have been willing to sacrifi ce for America if they 

had been treated equally, but they couldn't be expected to n ow, after the -way 

they are being treated at present. 

Tachan had another baby girl. She seems to be all right. Jol ly and without 

too many worries, it seems. Compared to her, Sam seems mor e likely to brood. 
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Iohi came back from his last ohurch service. He didn't seem to have much to 

say, but he's got a good grip on himself. He's calm and seems to take things in 

his stride. 

Toshi, they said, had been drafted and had gone to a camp in Arkansas. At 

first he was in an infantry division, but was transferred to a Japanese unit 

in Missouri. Here he was fortunate in getting a job as an acco untant. 

Santa Anita 

We were at Santa Anita at 2.30 to meet Georgia. We had bought a bag of oranges 

to give to her. At the outside gate there were a great num ber of Japanese 

clustered around, some inside and others outside of the ga tes. We looked around 

but could find no trace of Georgia. We looked at the instruct ions and learned that 

it required some trouble to get a permit to come to the ou tside gate to see 

friends. They required that you have business or that the visitor be a blood 

relative. And then it required about a week for the permit. And here we were, 

not even knowing in which unit Georgia lived. 

Formerly they had allowed visitors freely, but they had put a stop to it 

because there were so many coming ir̂ bo see them. There w as one couple that 

attracted our attention. The man was on the outside, de finitely a Hakujin. Yaye, 

who was also there that day, thought that he was a Mexican. He h ad his arms over 

the fence and around a girl, a Japanese. One lady was sayin g, "Once you get in 

you feel relieved." It was a hot day, and there didn't s eem to be much aotivity 

as we looked around. 

Haruko Minami 

By chance we came upon H.M. (now Kawachi, I thought she said ), who greeted 

us. She had been there about a month, she said. "All we talk  about is food," 

was one of the first things that she said. The food seemed to be all right, 

except that they craved more Japanese food. They had Okok o once, she said. She 



also mentioned that the sauce they made didn't fit their ta ste* At first, 

also, it wasn't so good, and once they were made to eat fi sh that had been 

opened and left in the can for three days, and everybody had Ptomaine poisoning. 

"It was terrible," she said. 

Rose Shoda 

Yaye said that she had seen Rose, She said that all she had  to complain about 

was the food and that she wanted to stay there permanentl y. The socials, she 

said,weren't so bad now because as a result of decisions  reached by the kids  i 

they had eliminated stags. They posted guards to keep t hem out. One of her 

brothers was a policeman. Another was working in the Post  Office, through "pull.) 

Someone said that the Frisco girls were really "fast," an d went in for street-

walking. I couldn't pin Yaye down as to where she had heard it . 

Franks 

Ruby's friend, Franks, came to see her today. Evidently he ha d come in the 

morning, but we weren't home till late in the afternoon, wh en he came again. 

He's working in the WCCA office. He said that he hadn't been to college. He 

seemed to be very much interested in the Japanese, and want ed to do something 

for them. He spoke of a Mr. Nif who was working for the Univer sity of California* 

doing research, and he seemed to be interested in doing the same thing. He was 

in Fertig's group that turned out the report on Niseis, an d he felt that he could 

be of help in some way. He thought that he might get a job as a  WCCA worker in 

one of the camps. 

We talked about the same old "Nisei Problem" and Ruby lef t us to ourselves. 

I let him read my report, and he was interested enough in i t to take time to 

glance through it. We had dinner together, and Pete, George , and I discussed the 

method of picking rhubarb most of the time. It was a hot day today and George had 

picked only 52 after working two hours extra. He says th at he's going to piok 40 

tomorrow. After dinner he played the piano and all of the people seemed to enjoy 
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it. I was going to drive him to the station, but everybody d iscouraged me. 

I was going to walk him part of the way, and Yaye pulled me  into a dark garner 

and told  me  that he wanted to see Ruby alone, and so I took off my coat an d let 

them go out together. 

Yaye 

Yaye was discussing with Pete tonight whether he thought s he should have 

read about contraception. Pete didn't think that a girl sh ould know too early* 

Then I went into Yaye's bedroom and discussed some of h er problems with her. She 

wanted to know whether she did the right thing in not becom ing engaged to a fellow 

who didn't want to marry her right off because he wasn't rea dy to. I thought she 

had, because there was no telling how long the war would last, or whether they 

would ever be able to get together agiin. There had been several boys who had 

proposed to her casually, but she hadn't taken any of them s eriously. She was 

worried a little because she wasn't madly in love as she ha d been when she was 

younger, and wanted to know whether it wad due to her age, or whether she had lost 

the capacity to have passions. I said that it was due to her age. She wanted to 

know whether it was right that she should consider such thin gs as height if she 

wanted taller children. The best I could do was to say th at she had to make her 

own choice and that she would probably consider al^such th ings in her choioe. I 

brought up the example of George Eliot who had to choose between a brilliant mind 

and a handsome fellow. 

Pete 

Pete told Yaye not to worry beoause everything will come out a ll right after 

she is married. He said that they had to reform each other. Y aye insisted that 

you couldn't change a fellow. She wanted to make sure. I tol d her that she 

should wait until she found the right fellow, but not to wa it after 25. 

\ 
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Monday, May 4, 1942 

Work 

Picked rhubarb today. Was able to pack 35 in about nine hour s. That's just 

about 4 per hour, so that I'm gettir^ about as much as if I wor ked by the hour. 

Bobby on Rowdies 

Some kids came around on a hopped-up car, and Bobby asked if we liked them. 

I asked her whether she did, and she said no.. I asked why, an d she tacitly said 

that they were "too nonki." 

More on Rowdies 

Yaye read a part of the description of a rowdy to several of her friends, and 

one of them thought that it was a description of him. 

Yaye on Elite Socialite 

One of the fellows asked her what E.S. was, and Yaye told him that it was "us." 

She thought that the title sounded pretty good. 

Rowdies at socials in Santa Anita 

Several weeks ago there was a report that the girls were dis gusted with the 

socials because of some of the rowdy fellows. This week Ros e Shoda is said to 

have said that it wasn't bad because it was for couples o nly. This was confirmed 

by the Santa Anita Pacemaker (no. 4), which announced inci dentally that the dance 

would be open to couples only. It is reasonable to suppose tha t this measure was 

made necessary to protect the interests of the girls. Some  questions that can be 

asked are ,"How was such a situation avoided before, or how wa s it handled before?" 

Mimaahis on Times cartoons 

At the dinner table today the Mimachis (old folks) for abou t the first time 

talked about something concerning other than their immedia te interests. The mother 

said that the Times "uso o bakkari kaiteru." As an example, s he mentioned the 

cartoon of a snake with a big belly with the flag of the Rising S un, showing how 

greedy it was. 



Wednesday,  May 6, 1942 

Work 

George, Jack, Joe Eto, and the old man and I cut rhubarb in the morning. 

I did only 16. In the afternoon we went to the strawberry pa tch and picked straw-

berries for a change. MoNight wanted us to do piecework if w e didn't do enough, 

but we got just as much as the rest of them — 40 cents an hour. 

Rest 

We quit at five, and George and I hung around till seven to wa it for Pete. 

We sat down in a shade in the evening and talked about bo oks and war and such 

things. Bobby came out and tossed us some oranges, saying t hat she didn't know 

that we were out there. One of the oranges dropped on my che st, and Bobby was 

gracious enough to pick it up apologetically.... 

Bobby on evacuation 

Bobby hopes that the valley will be sent to Pomona, without any of the L.A. 

and Boyle Heights fellows there. She doesn't like them, she says. 

Kingo 

Kingo quit his work and is doing nothing now. Pete asked him tonight whether 

he wanted to do any work. Kingo said no. I was showing off m y muscles to Ruby 

toniglt at the dinner table, and she pinched Kingo's arm , too, and he said, 

"Don't, it's soft." 

Doris (5/2/42) 

Doris wrote. Her letter was chatty, and mentioned the doin gs of the 

"progressive"group. She herself was trying to get a job i n personnel work. She 

mentioned the "socialites" as discussing such "trite" mat ters as the records they 

forgot to bring and the pretty girl in the bus. She has see n Tomi and Tom often. 

Charlie and Warren are in the same camp, but she hasn't se en much of them as yet. 

Ann and Mich seem to be working in the employment office. She a lso mentioned the 

Hoshiyamas and Nobu as leaders. 



Wednesday, May 6, 1942 

Evacuation orders 

I predicted that we would be evacuated to Pomona (I heard it from someone 

else, of course) and that the order would come out today. This morning in the Times 

two orders came out sending the L.A. group around Vergil Stre et to Pomona, and I 

was disappointed because it wasn't our area. But this eveni ng on coming home from work 

we were told that Monrovia and the rest of the valley wer e to be sent to Pomona, 

while Pasadena and Sierra Madre were to be evacuated on the  12, 13, and 14. But the 

place has not been decided yet. 

At the dinner table there was a heated discussion as to wher e we should go, 

or rather with which group we should go. Yaye wanted to go with the Pasadena 

group because she had a great many friends there, while sh e knew very few of the 

valley people. Kingo wanted to go with the- Sierra Madre gro up — he didn't think 

much of the Pasadena group. Someone argued that Mama would like to go with the 

Sierra Madre people because it would be difficult for he r to adjust herself anew 

to any other people. Ruby didn't care. May didn't say much . George and I argued 

for unity. Tomoye said that he had to go where Pete went, but o f course she would 

be the one who would want to keep the two families togethe r as much as possible. 

Pete says that he has to go with his folks. George and I were teased that we wanted 

to be with Bobbie. Actually the score is town versus coun try; friends versus 

relatives. 

Yaye, May, Ruby, Tomoye and I, however, are willing to go to Manzanar. That 

would be the solution, probably, because in spite of all t he disadvantages involved 

it is permanent and not so uncertain as some resettlement a rea in Arizona or 

further east.  . \ 

Well, we'll have to go to work again tomorrow and find out ho w the Mimakis 

feel about the whole thing. 
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Nishimuras 

Received a letter from Mrs.Nishimura. They are all at Man zanar because Shizu 

went out there first. Both Shizu and Fumi are working in t he hospital unit doing 

clerical work. Joe is doing drafting work. Both Mr. and Mrs. Nishimura seem to be 

enjoying themselves. She says it's not so good when the win d blows, but otherwise 

the weather is just the same as in California. 

Evacuation plans 

The evacuation orders for the Monrovia and Sierra Madre area s came out 

definitely today. They posted placards in conspicuous plac es. We spoke to Bobbie 

today, and she said that she didn't want to leave now. She had bought clothes and 

things, but she didn't realize that she would really have t o move out. She wanted 

to be with her friends, and also go to Pomona, but she als o saw the wisdom of the 

two families staying together(Mimaki and Takasugi). "If the two areas were only 

together," she said, "There would not be any worries.'" I se nt out a feeler as to 

whether her family would be willing to come to Sierra, sinc e the Takasugis would not 

want to leave the Sierra Madre group. Bobbie seemed to be w illing to sacrifice her 

friends, if necessary. I pointed out that where we went was not the issue at 

present. She had applied for a job at Pomona, and therefor e wants to go there if 

she can. Mr. and Mrs. Mimaki seemed to think that they'd go any place that was 
t 

forced on them. Bobbie said that Helen, who was married to  the oldest of the 

Munekios, wanted to go with the Mimakis no matter what. It  seems that she doesn't 

get along with the Munekios. But the matter is complicated b ecause her husband is 

the oldest in the Munekio family. He would have to stay with t he family because the 

father is gone, according to Pete, and Helen should- stay wi th her husband. Other-

wise, it seems that the Mimakis can register with the Takas ugis at Sierra Madre. 

Work 

We picked rhubarb most of the time today. I picked five an ho ur in the morning 

and 5.5 in the afternoon. George picked 6 an hour this mornin g, and 6.5 for the 

whole day. 



Bob Kinoshita 

Bob, I hear, is back at home, I thoî ght that he had gone to New York. Yaye 

says that he's married, but she doesn't know to whom. 

Friday, May 8, 1S42 

Last day of work 

Today was the last daycf work for us. George and I picked rhub arb again for 

about five hours, and then went off to Monrovia to do some sho pping. I picked at 

tie rate of six boxes an hour. Wednesday I was barely doi ng four, Thursday five, 

and today I made six. Received $16.70 for the week's work. 

Mlmakis 

Last night the Mimakis must have decided that it was best to go to Pomona by 

themselves. George went to register this morning in order  to apply for a job, Pete 

was listed too, and will bo going with them. Tomoye talked as if she really didn't 

care either way, but she must. Bobbie tactfully didn't say anything about their 

having made up their mind. She just said that she wished th at Sierra Madre could go 

to Pomona, too. 

Shopping 

In one of the shops the man was very friendly. He said that he knew that most 

of the Japanese were loyal. He was kind enough to make a l ittle souvenir calendar 

for me. There was a card which reads Made in Japan, caugh t in the Pacific, tanned 

in ths U.S.A.... It showed the picture of ajap and his hide, I asked him what it 

meant because I had thought that it had come with a merchand ise. He said that he 

didn't believe in such a thing. When I asked him for it, howe ver, he said that he 

didn't want to. I guess he was ashamed of it, and didn't '« ant to have such a card 

circulated. 



May 9, 1942, Saturday 

Registration 

T his morning we Wvsre to wake up at five, but we didn't till s ix. The Sierra 

Madre people decided to go together early, and somebody came around, I think it was 

Shiz, to tell us that we should be ready by seven. George was supposed to go for 

him, Ruby, and me, but May thought that it would be better if I went. Kingo, Yaye 

and I went. I was in such a rush that I had to eat a sandwich in th e car. lingo was 

all dressed up, and May hinted that I should change my pants . Most of the girls 

were dressed up and looking their best, I suppose. Shiz came u p in old clothes and 

a shock of hair, and wanted to know why everybody was dresse d up. At the California 

Street office we had to stay in line for about an hour, I think , before we were 

able to get registered. We thought that we were early, but t here were some people 

there already. The Sierra Madre bunch stayed quite closely t ogether, and even 

decided to leave on the same day, Thursday. 

Destination 

Shiz heard from Dr. N. that we v-ere to go to Pomona. I told King o and Yaye 

and was feeling rather glad about it. That afternoon, howe ver, I met a Pasadena 
was 

fellow at Sears and he told me that we were going to Tulare.  This  /confirmed 

by the evening paper which stated that "Alien and American -born Japanese in Pasadena 

area will be evacuated to Tulare instead of to Pomona, as pre viously announced, 

according to instructions received today at the Pasadena Civil Control Center, where 

registration of Japanese began at 8 a.m." (Pasadena Star Ne ws). I was disappointed, 

and so was the rost of the family. Yaye kept on hoping that we wo uld be able to 
6ut 

go to Pomona yet. We spread/the nap of California and locate d Tulare. George was the 

only one, it seemed, who thought that Tulare was a good place . 

Baggage 

The instruction sheet stated that we should take only as muc h as we could carry. 

The two Japanese clerks as I went out said, "No food." When I as ked for extra 

baggage tags and told them that I had six myself, the fellow th ought that I had too 



much and that I shouH out it down. It stated that there sho uld be no household goods, 

but we are planning to take a card table, camp chairs, and wa shtub. Also radios. 

Ayako M., Masaji, Mary Shimazu 

Ayako came by and talked to Kingo for some time. She seeme d to get along with 

him all right. She didn't notice me until the second time s he came around. I saw 

Masaji, too. He's still a good fellow, although on the con servative side. He said 

that he didn't get to go to U.C.L.A. because of the war. Si nce he was planning to 

go on to college, I gave him Joe Conard's address, Mary w as there, too, and I nodded 

to her. 

Sierra Madre kids 

There were a bunoh of S.M. kids around, but neither Kingo n or Yaye bothered to 

introduce me to them. I gues they didn't consider, it a fit ting occasion. I caught 

only three names -- Kimiko, Toshi, and Shizu. These S.M. p eople are surely sticking 

together closely. 

Ruby's mood 

Ruby washed my bathrobe this morning, and when she told me (she thought she had 

done it as a favor), and I had exclaimed» "What, you washed m y bathrobe'." She felt 

insulted and was quite sulky about it. She hinted around th at I was not appreciative. 

All day long as Ruby, George, and I went shopping, she held a grudge against me. As 

we were ooming home and discussing how we would feel if we found a pile of treasure 

as the men in Jungle Book had, she said, "If it's Jimmy, he 'll get greedy like those 

men." I could only ask if money meant so much to me. George laughed it off by 

saying that none of us cared too much for money. 

Jungle Book  -

Jungle Book was an enjoyable picture, although on the adve nturous and eerie side, 

as many of the English pictures seem to be. I don't think that it was quite as 

beautiful or enjoyable as the Thief of Bagdad. 

More on Rowdies at Manzanar 

Kubo F. came around tonight as did Toshi, and they stayed ti ll a little past 

eight. K. related that someone had written to him that the H arbor City gang, composed 
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2Q0 kids, and the Kanakas were on bad terms. They lined up on o pposite sides of the 

dance hall, just waiting for someone to start something. O ne fellow was threatened by 

both groups to join their gang or else, and he joined up wi th the larger one. 

Frank peeved 

Whoever Frank is, both Toshi and Yaye are afraid that he i s very mad at them. 

They turned down a date because Toshi had something else  to do, and Yaye wasn't home 

yet when he came around. K. says that he was peeved because Yaye had discussed 

Rowdy with him, and hinted that he used to be that way. He sa ys that he has a better 

definition of a R. than I have. K. said that you couldn't h ave fun unless you were 

a rowdy. I guess Yaye is afraid of Frank, even though she way s that he's very polite, 

as many Nisei fellows aren't. 

Toshi 

Toshi was here this morning, as well as this evening. She came sailing into the 

house, and when she saw me she said, "Hello, you're Jimmy, aren't you?" I didn't 

know much about her, and when we were talking about what 's going to become of her, I 

asked, "Are you all alone?" Then without blinking an eye lash and before anyone could 

say "Jack Robinson," she said in rapid succession, "Yes, d o you want to marry me?i" 

Of course I was surprised, and my comeback was pretty lame an d trite. I said, "This 

is so sudden," but I must have hesitated and blushed, a nd she laughed at me. She 

acts rather familiar with us, as if we had known her for ages. S he said, "Hello, 

George," when she saw him, and lie wondered where he had me t her, and had to admit 

that he didn't remember her. 

Yaye reads diary 

Tonight I let Yaye read most of the first part of my diary . She seemed to think 

that it was interesting. "Just like a story," she said. She thought it was pretty 
that 

objective, too, I guess, for she mentioned/I wrote just as things happened. Toshi 

agreed with me that barriers were being set up against rowd ies. 
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May 10, 1942, Sunday 

Mothers' Day 

Today was Mother's Day, but nothing happened exoept that so me Caucasian 

neighbors gave us some cake. We took one up to Tomoye, who h ad moved into the 

Mimaki household with Pete and Diana, and we ate it at noon wit h strawberries. 

Work 

Although we had quit work last Friday, we decided to work a lit tle more because 

we were not leaving till Thursday. We picked rhubarb again. Mr. and Mr3. Mimaki 

kindly came out and showed us the place where it was easies t to pick, George 

picked 43, while I did 42. My rate was slightly less than six a n hour. 

Mr. McNight had fired the Texan because, as he said to Geo rge, "He's even dumber 

than I am." "I dcn't see how he's going vto get along for the next several months." 

Evacuation a ship voyage 

Last night Toshi suggested that evacuation would be like a ship voyage. But, 

she added, there won't be any port to reaoh. I said that the re would be in about 

five years. This was too long, she thought. 

Warren T. 

Last week Bobbie told me something about W. which I think is w orth noting. She 

said that she thought that he was sort of queer. She describ ed him curtly as " thinks 

he can get along with Hakujins." He was one of the editors of the high school annual, 

but she didn't think much of his tastes. 

Tomoye 

Today Tomoye looked dejected as she said, "Too bad you kids aren't going to 

Pomona, too," May mentioned her as being very "hito ga ii, " although she rather 

hinted that she w&s too good in that way. Yaye said that she w as too nonki. She 

related that she insisted always on serving something to gue sts, something that she 

would not have thought of. 
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Mexicans on evacuation 

Friday, I think it was, we had occasion to exchange a few wo rds with a 

Mexican. We said that this was our last day of work, and that w e had to go 

away. "A long vacation, 11 we said. "By gosh, "he said, "I wish I were in your 

place." 

FBI anecdotes 

George tonight related two anecdotes that he heard while working up north. 

One Kibei fellow was found with the picture of the emperor in his room, and 

was asked who was that. He answered, "He my brother." 

There was one man who was not so brave, who had a wife sick in bed. When 

an FBI man came to the house, the man was shivering. The wife, knowing the 

character of her husband, called from her bedroom as he was  talking to the FBI 

agentt "Papa, shikkari yan'nasai!" 

Kingo 

Tonight we were talking about palmistry, and Kingo brou ght up the sort of 

tests used by companies in selecting men. This lead me to as k May what test 

she had taken for the family relations counseling, and it ended up by my going 

out and gettir̂ g a copy of the Bernreuter Personality t est. May was enthusiastic 

about discussing it, but Kingo seemed to feel rather left  out. Kingo admitted 

that his score had come out very "depressed " and that May h ad come out the 

opposite. May and I tried to talk, but Kingo kept changing the subject, so 

that we didn't get very far. May wanted to do a little mor e paoking, while 

Kingo seemed in a hurry to get back to their little cottage. 

Yaye in competition with Sierra Madre girls 

Yaye has been talking to Ruby, and she just said that compet ition among 

the girls for popularity and being neat, etc., makes them more attractive 

than, say, Pasadena girls. Of course, they're not all t he same, she tried to 

explain, but she felt that S.M. girls were different. 



Wednesday,  May 6, 1942 

Yaye's personality 

Last night Yaye looked over some of the questions of the Ber nreuter 

Personality test that I had brought out. She looked at & fe w of the items, 

ana mentioned that she answered them in the "wrong." We trie d to explain that 

there wasn't any wrong way, but she said that it was wrong to d ay dream 

frequently, and to cross the street to avoid people, be afr aid to be different, 

etc. 

P. Franks 

Yesterday was Sunday, and F.seems to have come again to see R uby. If I 

had known that he was interested in Ruby, I wouldn't have mon opolized him the 

last time. Ruby wanted to pack, and related how she manage d to send him home. 

She hinted that the other girls found it hard to work around the house if he 

were there, and so he went home, much to Ruby's relief. 

At the dinner table May mentioned that she was afraid whe n he was around 

because someone might say something detrimental to the Jap anese. Ruby and the 

others wondered whether he weren't an FBI spy. Ruby asked him whether he felt 

pity for the Japanese, wanting, as 3he did, to find out wheth er he was treating 

the Japanese as inferior. He said that he felt just as the Japanese did... When 

he went to Santa Anita the other day, he felt, he said, as mise rable as the 

Japanese must have felt. 

Rumor from Monrovia: Japanese with sword shot. 

This was related tonight by Tomoye. She said that she had he ard it from a 

girl in Monrovia, who had it from a Hancock service stati on man. A box of 

oranges sent into the camp (probably Santa Anita). On ins pection a sword 

was found inside. A Japanese, however, grabbed the  sword,  ran off, and a soldier 

shot hia dead. 

Farewell, Pete, Tomoye, and Diana 

The three of them came this evening from the Mimaki farm and s pent the 



earlier part of the evening here. We ate together. Mama w as crying part of the 

time. She had written a letter for Tomoye, telling her, for one thing, to 

write to her father. She thought that it oontained money, a nd didn't want to 

take it from her poor mother. Pete seemed tearful, too. T omoye tried to say 

as cheerfully as she could, "Well, let's go." Tomoye fi nally took the letter 

and put it in the compartment of the Oldsmobile, and Mama ran after her to tell 

her to carry it, so that she would be sure to read it. Diana's only two years 

old, and May's probably right when she said that Diana woul d forget us all. 

Yaye mentioned that Diana would be grown up the next time we saw her. 

Work 

We left a little earlier than usual this moaning for work, bu t still we 

didn't get started till 7.20. By three I picked 40 and Geor ge 42. Since the 

truck wasn't anywhere to be found, we had to carry out all of the boxes from 

the field to the edge of the road. We carried two boxes to sa ve time, but even 

then it took close to an hour to finish the task. 

Physical examination 

We rushed to the WCCA station for our physical exam, only to f ind out 

that we should have been there by one, and that the doct ors had all gone home. 

The people in charge, however, were nice, and Miss Popper told us that we could 

see the doctor Thursday before we left. 

300 sent to Santa Anita 

We found out that 300 out of the Pasadena area were to be sent to Santa Anita. 

They were taking sign-up« for volunteers. 

Doris' picture 

Doris' picture came today. Everybody was eager to see it. I opened the 

picture, saying she wasn't really so cute, half afraid t hat the picture would 

be a poor one. But she looked pretty enough. Kingo said th at she looked sleepy. 

Ruby merely laughed .Yaye said that she was cute. Canity, al l is vanity. „ 



Wednesday,  May 6, 1942 

Work 

We thought that we were going to work all day today, but Kingo wanted us 

to some home early to do some cleaning up around the house. We started work at 

seven and quit at noon. Since there w.>re no more boxes we ha d to pick straw-

berries with Japanese ladies, men and Mexicans. 

Cleaning up the house was something. There were so many scraps of wood 

and things lying around. George remarked that mama would ha ve kept the place 

clean. Mrs. Takasugi went around picking things up even when we had thrown it 

away. 

Shopping 

We still had a little more shopping to do. It's funny how the re's no limit 

> 

to the number of things to take. I was wondering whether H inin material would 

allowed to be sent by mail, and I stopped in at a store in Mo nrovia to find out. 

The man in charge thought not. I asked him how much one made  of skin cost, and 

he said $3.00. We took one and a half. I felt that it would be gcod to have 

for others, if we didn't find occasion to use it ourselves. G eorge said that 

he had never shopped for it before, and I said that I hadn't either. The man 

at the store was very matter-of-fact about it. 
[Written at Tulare Assembly Center) 
Wednesday, May 13, 1942 

in 

I know that I wrote/fchi3 diary before today, but I don't see m to be able 

to locate it. 

Ruby on Concentration camps 

Ruby speaks of the camps as concentration camps. It seems a s though she's 

trying to make it sound worse than it really is. 

Y. on American flags 

Y. didn't think much of the people who were carrying Amer ican flags, the 

day she went to see some Pasadena people off to Tulare. 
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Shisu N. on marriage and romanoe 

Shizu N. was quoted as saying long ago that married life wo uld not be 

worth while without love and romance. This was brought up i n connection with 

a discussion on romance. May thought that love was somet hing that didn't die, 

and that a girl- desired it. George said that he couldn' t be expected always 

to make love to a wife, because of his background and .train ing. May said that 

Kingo felt self-conscious when with his family. Even whe n May had his head 

on her lap, when his mother came by he would say, "I think that I'd better get 

up." 

Mr. MimAki's verse 

[in Japanese only] 

Show 

We didn't do any work today, but we went to a show in the aftern oon. We 

saw "Woman of the Year," with Spencer Tracy and Katherin e Hepburn at the 

United Artists. We oould see no other Japanese around. I c ouldn't help 

chuckling as we came out because it reminded me of Shanghai and Doris. 

Food in Tulare 

One of George's friends writes that the food in the Tulare Ass embly Center 

is terrible, most of it coming from cans. The eke1ling p laces, some of them 

formerly stables, come in for their share of adverse criti cism. 

Pasadena Socialites 

This was brought up when we were discussing how the Pasaden a Niseis got 

together at a table next to the Negroes. Kii3go didn't ap prove of it at all, 

and May thought it was a waste of time to hear the girls talk i ncessantly of 

boys and dances. 

Mimakis 

We went to the Mimakis in the morning and in the afternoon in order to get 

our money. We said goodbye for the last time. Pete had br ought a truck for $75.00 

in order to take their things. Pete wanted to take a great m any things, including 



a bureau, but the girls wanted to leave some things out. Th ey stood around 

for Pete to load the truck, but he seemed to be in no particul ar rush. We 

helped them load on two trunks. 

Money 

I have exactly $6.98 to start life in camp. It isn't much, bu t I've bought 

just about what I wanted. 



Thursday, May 14, 1942 

37. 

EVACUATION DAY 

Woke up at three o'clock in the morning. Put our blanke ts away and 

took our baggage down to the van at the gakuen by five in the m orning. 

Kingo's mother spent the greater part of the morning trying to clean up the 

house which she had never bothered to keep very clean. Mr. Boo th came after 

us for breakfast at his place, and we drove down to his place . 

Breakfast at Booths 

We had an enjoyable breakfast with the Booths. We felt perfectly 

at home with them and enjoyed every moment of it. Mr. Booth f elt rather 

resentful of the treatment the Japanese w re getting, and it seemed strange 

to me to be cheerful about it all. It might have been sligh tly exaggerated, 

but as things turned out, I don't think so. 

Soldiers sniffing 

Mr. (Booth?) related of a soldier who was sniffing when the first 

groups were being sent out to Tulare from Pasadena. The sol dier thought 

it was the devil, but that perhaps it was for the best. He knew how 

conditions would be if there were an air raid by Japan on th e Coast. 

Christian preachers 

Christian leaders came in for more than their share, it see med, of 

criticism from Mr. Booth. He thought th t they did not act i n a wise way 

during this evacuation. For instance, he said that there wer e very few 

preachers out to see the Japanese off. 

Are you a Christian? 

And this idea of Christians asking Japanese whether they were Christians 

or not was not approved of by the Booths. They prided themse lves on the 

fact that they did not limit their work to members of their ow n group. 



Student Relocation and the Friends Service Committee 

Mr. Booth mentioned that the WRA had asked the Friends Ser vice Committee 

to take over the work of relocating students. One shhool ha d already-

offered to take on a minimum of six students on a working s cholarship. He 

wanted to know whether I would like to go on to school, pr obably with a 

scholarship for me in mind, but I told him that I want to w ork inside the 

camp« He thought that the Student Relocation Committee wou ld either 

dissolve or become a part of the work done by the Friends. 

Church breakfast at the train 

For the others the church got together to provide hot co ffee, buns, 

milk, and oranges to the Japanese leaving that morning. 

Negroes at the train 

There were several Negroes, probably neighbors, at the stat ion to see 

some Japanese off. I heard one say, "I'll sho be waiting for you to come 

back." 

Kissed by the Booths 

Both George and I, as well as Kingo, were kissed by Mrs. Booth and Jean 

before we boarded the train. Both of us were surprised beca use that was the 

first time we had been kissed. 

Waving to People 

As the train sped on its way, I waved to people on the wayside . Some 

of them were standing and watching us. Others only happened to be there. 

But most of them were glad to wave their hands back when t hey saw us wave. 

Only one lady made a wry face and thumbed her nose at us. I ha d a good time 

waving to whomever I could find. 

Crying 

As the train pulled out, therj didn't seem to be much crying . Many were 

bored because there were none to see them off. Ruby seemed to be crying, I 

don't know why. Everybody seemed to take it all in a matter -of-fact mp 



Booths 

The Booths came ahead of the train for a little ways and got o ff to 

wave to us once more before we left them behind for good. 

Yoshimi and her 15-day baby 

May found Yoshimi on the train with a 15-day baby. She had bee n in the 

hospital when her husband was sent to Tulare several weeks  before. She 

didn't want to be left behind all by herself again, s o she packed her things 

and came with the last Pasadena group. She seemed to be doin g fine. The 

nurse and doctor on the train were by her most of the time, gi ving her as 

much care as she could have. 
\ 

Chubby smoking a pipe 

May and Kingo 

May and Kingo looked happy on the train, sitting together. 

Orange trees 

We saw many orange trees as we sped by. It was probably the l ast time 

in a long while. 

Make -up 

Ruby says thit there are three girls on the train making up. This sort 

of thing has, always been going on, and will probably cont inue to go on. 

Lunch 

We had box lunches and milk for lunch. Butter and jam sandwic h, meat 

sandwich, cake, and an apple. 

Sameshima 

Spoke to Mr. and Mrs. Sameshima on the train. Mr. S. thought that there 

would be more chances for us if we went back to the Asiatic continent or 

Java or some place. Mrs. S. wasn't so sure about that. I thin k she is much 
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the more intelligent of the two. Mrs. Yuge, the eldest girl,  looked charming. 

Fumiko was sort of shy. 

Merchant at Manzanar 

A man was allowed to go out to buy some buckets at Lone P ine. He bought 

all he could and then came back to the camp and sold them f or three times 

their original price. The people complained to the authori ties. They in turn 

wanted to know what they wonted done about it. Mr. Booth tho ught that the 

enterprising man v/as made to "cough it up. ,?  

Tulare at last 

We arrived at Tulare at 8.30 p.m. The trip had taken twice a s long as 

it should have because we circled around the Bakersfield hi lls instead of 

cutting through them, as the S.P. train would have done. Vie marched down to 

the camp a few blocks, as soldiers stood watching with rifl es and tommy guns. 

There were son© Hakujins out too, watching the strange pro cession. May ana 

Ruby were indignant because of both. We were fortunate in b eing able to 

get off the train first. I helped Yoshimi in to a car, becau se she had a baby 

in her arms. The whole camp seemed to be out to watfah us come in. As we filed 

into the office I saw Kaizoji and Tub. Fusako N. was working  at one of the 

desks. The seven of us were assigned to a room presumably designed for six. I 

protested but, as it turned out, we were put in a room wh ich would hold eight 

easily. We were issued blankets, one apiece, and then a gu ide took us out to 

our barrack. It was at the farthest end from the center. Th ere were grasses 

growing up through the asphalt floor, and it filled the room  about a foot or more 

high. We picked out our baggage as the truck brought it from th e train. Many boys 

worked fast and furious to get it off. We had to open most of the packages to have 

them inspected. The Hakujin fellow that inspected mine wa s very good about the whole 

thing. 
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We talked as he looked into my things. He kept asking whethe r I had sharp 

tools, cameras, or flash lights. I asked him whether a chisel  was all 

right, and I hinted at the same time that I had brought alon g other tools. 

He must have thought that I was a carpenter, because he d idn't object. In 

fact, he advised me to sign up as a carpenter. 

George and I carried a load of bundles to the room on a wheelba rrow, 

but I decided to wait for a truck for the rest of the things . I was out 

by our baggage till past one. Yaye and Toshi were out there till quite late. 

The truck finally came around to our baggage and loaded it up and took it 

to our room. That night I only took a shower and went to sleep . 

\ 

Friday, May 15, 1942 

I was reluctant to get up in the morning. I dawdled in bed , but got up 

in time for breakfast. They had grapefruit, boiled eggs , cold meat, toast, 

jam, butter, coffee, and milk. 

First complaint 

Mama brought in the first complaint. She said that the toi let was 

impossible. There was no partition, and the seat was not alw ays clean. 

The front border was too broad. 

Kingo 

Hingo dawdled in bed till nearly noon. 

Fixing up room 

We spent the morning fixing up our room. I put up my two shelves made 

of tri-ply wood that I had brought from home , and a closet to hang my clothes. 

Lunch 

Room trouble 

Some Sierra Madre people were put into the stables way at the other end of 



the field. The old folks seemed to ha e complained terrib ly last night. 

This morning Mrs. T. came back, painting a pitiful picture of them. Said 

that the Hoshinos and the Nakagawas wanted to move over here with us. The 

Nakagawas, she said, had done a lot for their family. She me ntioned that 

she was deaf and couldn't do much. We tried to tell her that we 'd take in 

one person, but she seemed alljupset because we didn't seem  more enthusiastic. 

We wanted to wait a few days before any steps were taken. Th ey moved over 

here into a separate room, I believe. But last evening we met one fellow 

who wanted to go back to his original room, and was taking a lot of boys 

to move his things back again. 

George A. Matsuura 

Saw George Aranani and George Matsuura. .George Matsuura ha s a job 

painting signs. His sister and Rev. Imamura are also here. 

Rumor 

There have been rumors that 1000 people from Fresno are movin g in. 

There has also been a rumor, according to Tub, that all thoa * Pasadena people 

who went to Santa Anita couldn't find room and were coming her e. Yaye says 

that they're coming next week. 

More Rumors 

They're saying that we're going out to the Rocky Mountai n region in 

11/2 months, perhaps 2. According to Tub, no one at the of fice seems to 

know. 

Haircut 

Ruby out George's hair and mine. She did a better job on Ge orge, but it 

wasn't so bad. 

Mental case 

Just as the train was going to leave Pasadena, an old lad y, whom I 

thought at first was a Mexican, was brought to the train. Sh e found her 

group, but she was sitting apart from them in the corridor all by herself. 



m y went to find out why she was sitting alone. She suspected that the 

lady had T.B. But she thinks that she is a mental case. 

Qtsuya 

There was Otsuya tonight for a Pasadena man who had died in th e hospital, 

the day his family left. They wanted to stay behind a little while longer, 

I suppose, but it was too late to get them off the train, sin ce he died an 

hour before the train left. They could have gotten off, but they did not 

press the matter. We didn't get to go to the Otsuya because we met Tub, 

Kaz, and Harry on the way and stood talking to them. 

Sho Kitahata 

Met Sho playing ball. He said that he wanted to get into dra fting 

class, but was not admitted. When he asked how he liked it, he said it was 

lousy. Lousy food, no shows, and no ball field, was abou t the way that he 

put it. But one of his friends thought that it wasn't so b ad. 

Peace 

As George, Ruby and I walked around the center in the even ing after 

supper (cold meat — no more stew — hominy, cole slaw, fru it) we felt in a 

peaceful mood, which I felt was never felt by ~ost of the peo ple here in 

camp. There were two groups of volley ball games while many s at on the dry 

grass to watch them play. In spite of the game in progress, th ere seemed 

to be hardly a movement. No running around, no loud talkin g, just sitting 

and relaxing. A few were in couples, but not many. I felt a s if I were at 

a resort, taking a vacation. 

Dance practice 

There was dance practice going on in the K recreation hal l. The girls 

there seemed to be only about 14 or 15. 



Four boys and girls 

According to Tub, there were four boys from the country, on ly about 

16 or 17, who were in an empty room during lunch hour. They hea rd girls in the 

next room talking and thought that they were the only ones t here. They talked 

to the girls, and finally started to cross over the parti tion to.get into 

their room. An old man was sleeping in a corner behind a curta in. He reported 

the boys to the police, saying that it wouldn't be safe for girls with them 

around. The police called in the boys, and I believe they wer e let off with a 

light reprimand, perhaps K.P. duty. 

However, Tub said, they are now drawing up regulations to hav e offenses 

committed inside the camp taken care of by the local police d epartment, locking 

necessary culprits in the Tulare, or even sending them to San Quentin. 

Saturday, May 16, 1942 

(I am writing this the next morning) 

Kimi and Yaye 

Kimi came into the room in the morning. When asked how she sp ent 

her time, she said that she did "nothing but walk around." 

Bulbs for dance stolen 

Three bulbs were stolen from the recreation hall, which w ere to be 

used tonight for the dance. There was a warning that there  would be no dance un-

less they were returned by noon. I don't think that they wer e returned, but the 

dance was held just the same. 

Saltpeter in food 

Kobu says that saltpeter is put in the coffee and other food s in 

order to relieve the strain between the sexes. He says tha t this is done in the 

Army and in the CCC camps. 



Sleepiness 

George, May and I complain of the sleepiness that we feel in the 

afternoon, when everything is drowsy and warm. We all took a nap in the 

afternoon, and slept well at night, too. May didn't feel so well today, and 

she thought that she might have gotton a slight caoe of sun stroke. "Naze 

konnani nemutai no desho," she said. And Ruby remarked, " Hayaku okinasai. 

Baka ni naru yo." When I was asleep, I had a feeling that we w ere being drugged 

into sleep, connecting sleepiness with what I had heard from Kobu about saltpeter. 

But it was all right after I was awake again. 

A Nisei educated in Japan speaks 

He said that he couldn't believe that this thing was happen ing to him. 

He had thought that it would be impossible for such a thin g to happen to a 

citizen. He had concluded that this was a matter of race (i ro no mondai). He 

thought that no matter how much time went by, whether in the time of the Sansei 

or Shisei, it would remain the same. 

He saw the irony of the stand of the Nisei. Even if they went b ack to 

Japan, he said that Niseis were treated as foreigners (gai kokujin atsukai no 

sareru.). Niseis have no place to go. They are really in a h ard (kurushii) 

position. 

He went on to rationalize that perhaps because of the suf fering of the Nisei 

like himself, the future might be brighter for the Japane se. If we thought in that 
would 

manner, he said, we Niseis,'feel better. 

Then he became philosophical. Maybe we'd be muoh happie r if we lead the 

life of a Mexican, existing from day to day. He laughed and r epeated that it 

might be better if we lived in that way. 



46. . 

Dinner 

Roast pork, mashed potato, oorn, applesauce. 

Ate with Ayako M. Since the little they served me was not enough, I went to 

K with Ayako and ate again. They had about run out of food a nd said that I 

should have come earlier. Walked to Ayako»s room in the E b arrack (horse 

stable). Met Yoshiko Homma. Tub was around too and he let  me use his 

newspapers. He was talking of the change in the routine in eating that was 

to be put in effect. 

Imamura-Mats  uura 

Dropped in to see Rev. Imamura. He was living in the same r oom with 

the Matsuura. Mr. Matsuura had been taken because he was a p riest. Jane 

was talking of the chorus that the Christians, mootly from P asadena, under 

the guidance of Ayako M., had formed. Someone brought in t he news that she 

was a very capable director, and that there had been 75 yo ung people out for the 

practice. Jane talked of the Buddhist chorus, regretting t hat it was not as good as 

the Christian, and that they had to do better. She said th at there were only ten 

or twelve of the original chorus of Guadalupe around. At t he service the next 

day there were 25 present. This feeling of competition s eems to be unavoidable. 

It was mentioned that the Christians were more "deshabari" and better at social 

things. The Buddhists were too backward and shy, a quality both good ani bad. 

George M. 

George's mother is urging him to become a priest, just as hi s father. 

Rev. Matsuura was in middle school when one of his friends suddenly died. This 

lead him to think about life and death. Abandoning his so hool he entered 

the priesthood. George has never been enthusiastic about church work, even up 

at Berket y. When he was small, he says, he was interested in becoming a priest 

and had intended to return to Japan to study for it, but no w doubts have begun to creep 

into his mind as to what he should do. "Mayoitaku nai," he sa ys, and has decided 



for the present to go into something that he likes. Even he re in the camp he 

does not want anything to do with the running of the Buddhi st group, because 

he is afraid that too many things will be shoved on to him. R ev. Imamura 

says to his mother that she shouldn't urge George so much to  go into a line 

that he does not want to go into. He cited his own example a nd said that 

his grandmother used to get him irritated to the extent tha t it brought a 

reaction against religion. M - Until quite recently, he sa ys, he really 

didn't know what his grandmother had been driving at. He beli eves that George 

should be let alone. 

George mentioned that we should go back to Japan. He thought that 

Buddhism would not be likely to survive here in the U.S., bec ause it was 

not adapted to the condition here. His mother said that B uddhism was adapted 

to this country in many respects. George thought that it wa s not individualistic 

enough. Rev. Imamura agreed with the parent that Buddhis m was more adapted to 

a scientific mind. He thought that there was not much sen se in copying Christi-

anity to a great extent, because if Buddhism is to survive i t would have to be 

on grounds which the better organized religion here lacks . 

Dance 

Tonight we attended our first dance. George and Ruby left ear lier in 
weren't 

the evening together, but they came back because there wa&nx t very many dancing 

when I went by the recreation room. Among the first three on the floor were 

Maggie and Hiroko. I took a shower and brushed my teeth an d put on my suit 

pants and a sweater. I didn't want to dance with any girl a nd thought I was not 

dressed enough for it. Most of the other people seem to have th ought it 

would make them conspicuous if they were dressed up. So I c hose to put on only 

a sweater without any tie. Yaye insisted that she would no t go, but her mother 

urged her to go when she learned that we were going out to o. I told Yaye ilsrhat 



I was going out for a walk, and asked her if she wanted to c ome with me or not. 

She said she had changed her mood and now felt like going. The four of us, 

including Ruby and George, leisurely walked out to the K a rea. Yaye kept 

insisting that she wasn't going to dance, and purposely (? ) came out in low 

heels and a sweater. We looked in through the window, a nd saw the hall filled 

with dancers. 

Most of the people there were not dressed up. Some wore just jeans as 

they did during the day. The floor was just pine wood on e by sixes, so that 

shoes got caught on the cracks sometimes. But it did not int erfere so much with 

the dancing. A record player with two radios were used to furnish the music 

selections 
for the crowd. The music/ NQre mostly slow, with a few fast ones, for which 

was 

there wepe some jitterbugging going on. The music was limi ted to only foxtrots 

and a few waltzes. The dance was open,to all. Only one inc ident marred the 

evening. A group of fellows seems to have become involve d in a fight, and they 

left the recreation hall to have it out, Yaye says that it was the Gardena 

and Oxnard groups, who had differences that afternoon ove r a volley ball game. 

Yaye 

Yaye kept insisting that she wouldn't dance, and I even ha d a difficult 

time getting her near the entrance. I told her that I'd li ke to dance with her 

because I needed some practice. She said that she was no good at dancing and 

that she was scared. I couldn't see why she should be afrai d of anything at all. 

She seemed to be afraid that she wouldn't be dancing wit h the people that she 

wanted to. I finally got her on the floor and after that it seemed to be all 

right. We got along fairly well even the first time. La ter when I got into 

the stride we danced smoothly enough, and she even comp limented me later by 

saying that I was a good dancer. Ruby said that on the first  daice, too. 



George and Ruby danced, and then we changed partners. When o ther people 

didn't out in, we danoed with each other. Joe Eto, Bill M orita, and one or two 

others seem to have cut in on Yaye. Hardly any of the Sierra M adre boys were 

around. 

George danoed mostly with people that he knew. Ruby did th e same 

because nobody else out in, George said that he could enjoy hi mself when he 

danced with someone he knew. 

I mentioned that people were self-conscious and more wor ried than 

having fun when they thought about who they were dancing wit h, whether they 

were popular, eto. I  have  felt that way myself. As soon as I atarted to look 

around for someone whom I really wanted to dance with, I f ound myself feeling 

uncomfortable. Yaye probably felt that way when she kept ins isting that she 

didn't want to dance. I danoed mostly with Yaye and Ruby. Once with Ayako 

and Mrs. Yuge. The last dance I had with Yaye.  . 

Seiji Morioka 

Seiji and Midori were at the dance, and I was surprised to se e them 

because I thought that I had left them behind in Berkeley . He had gone down to 

L.A. to his wife's place. 

NICHIBEI 

Oakland Youth Attempts Suicide following futile try to e vade evacuation. 

Clarence Sadamune, Recovering, Escapes from Tanforan Ce nter (Niohibei, May 14, 

1942). 

Wages for Evaouefe' work set (May 15, 1942) 

Unskilled labor $8.00 

Skilled labor $12.00 

Professional and technical service $16.00 

44 hour week. 



Evacuees no solution to labor needs (May 15, 1942) 

Army does not w^nt to be following around small groups of e vacuees. 

Only a fourth of the «Japanese have ever worked on a farm. 

Till we meet again (May 15) 

With tear-filled eyes we bid adieu 

Our humble home, our coastal rendezvous. 

Then into inland hills and plains we roam, 

For some shacks we will call our "home." 

We've made a sacrifice, which stood  up to  the test, 

That we are loyal along with the best, 

'T was sad, but then, what can we do, 

To prove otherwise we're Americans, too? 

\  

But sadder yet was to depart from our pals 

With whom we've had fun -- these guys and gals. 

But we didn't say "goodbye" — just "so long" to our friends 

Till we meet again, when this all ends. 

—Arthur Kumada 

Brighton, Colorado 

Race Prejudice problem involved in internment plan for J apanese (May 15). 

Taken from the Pacific Weekly, now organ of the College of P acific. Written 

by Dr. George H. Colliver, head of the religious educati on department. 

Sunday, tfay 17, 1942 

Setsuko I 

Saw S. in line at breakfast this morning. May said that sh e didn't 

like her because she was sort of stuck-up. There was ster nness in her eyes 

which was not there before. I wondered whether the life she had left after I 

had last seen her two years ago had an ill effect on her p ersonality. Her 

father had died last year, and she probably had to go out to w ork. She used 



to go around steadily with Teddy Tajima, but I believe tha t he moved out of 

zone I, and that must have been a blow to her. 

New eating system 

A new system of eating was put in effect today. Instead of h aving a 

continuous stream of people pouring into the mess halls, they have decided 

to have the people eat. in shifts. And instead of the indivi duals taking out 

his dishes, they have ordered that they be left on the table . This was tried 

out in the morning, but by aftarnoon and evening they seem to  have reverted 

to the steady stream, although the dishes were still left o n the table. 

Breakfast 

Fried eggs and canned meat, toast, jam, mush, milk, coffee (no butter). 

Church 

We were hoping to be able to attend both the Christian and B uddhist 

services, but they changed the time of the services so th at this was made 

impossible. We went to the Buddhist service—George, Rub y, Yaye end I. Yaye 

wanted to go to the Christian service, too, but we didn't.  May and Kingo went 

to the Christian service. 

The recreation hall in which the service was held was fille d with young 

and old people. A young fellow was in charge, and spoke in E nglish. Some of 

the elders complained that they did not understand any of  it. The service, of 

oourse, was for the young people, and there was to be a serv ice for the elders 

on Tuesday night. A choir of 25 lead the songs sung, and sou nded good enough. 

Rev. Imamura is the only Buddhist minister in this camp, a nd he gave his sermon 

in English. It was very well prepared. He spoke on the life of suffering and 

the real aspect of human life. This, he said, constitute d the darken side of 

religion, which must first be understood before the brigh ter side of religion— 

salvation—can really take on meaning. 



He spoke a few words to the elders who remained behind afte r the youngsters 

left. I met Mrs. Tana, who said that she wondered what had become of some of 

the people she had known, and wondered whether I was up here because she knew 

I had gone to Pasadena. She had a letter from Rev. Tana in  New Mexico, who 

wrote a sermon for Mothers Day. She wanted to share it wit h others, and 

thought that she would at least share it with the Lompoc gr oup. Rev, Tana's 

teachings are simple, but there is a warmth in them that ca nnot be denied. 

Dinner 

For lunch we got into line too late and had to wait almost an hour before 

we got it. For dinner we got into line as soon as it became lon g enough, 
\ 

bccause we wanted to get in on the first shift. We had a real Sunday dinner, 

of which any restaurant would have been proud: Swiss steak, stewed tomatoes, 

mashed potatoes, bread, jam, cocoa, pudding, canned peache s. 

Tuny's success story 

While we were in line Tuny told us his success story. We wer e talking 

about making enemies, and Tuny thought that there was no use in making enemies. 

He also thought that our lives were cut out for us. He had been w orking out in 

the country for several years, before he came home again. He d idn't go around 

with his friends in Pasadena very much because he thought t hat they were not 

serious enough. He went into Los Angeles and made contact s there. He was 

doing gardening work, when one day a lady gave him a book cal led Unity to read. 

In this he read that there was a task for each person to do. So meone offered 

him a job, not too good, and advised hiii. to stick to it. Th is he did, and 

gradually he advanced to the position of manager. His dut y was to check goods 

as they were landed from boats and ship them off. 



Tuny pointed to the kids around and said that they were not serious enough. 

They didn't look enough into the future. After the war, he sa id, what are 

they going to do? Until now they've worked in fruitstands an d blown their pay 

over Saturday and Sunday. He pointed out one fellow and sai d that he was 29 

already, but was still concerned over such things as dances . 

Yaye asked me what I thought of him, and I said that he was an a cceptable 

member of the community. I asked her whether girls liked him, but she wouldn't 

commit herself. 

Cleaning assignment 

A girl came around to assign us to work cleaning the toilet , the shower 

room, and the laundry room. The girls in our room have to d o it on the 29th. 

Only one girl from each room is required to do it once every three weeks. 

Toilet trouble 

There are still complaints of the toilet condition. Fo r one thing the 

facilities are much too large and high for young kids. I'v e seen one little 

boy brought in by his father because he wasn't tall enoug h to urinate. The 

fact that the drainage is incomplete and the place is at tractive to flies and 

the awful smell—these are still open to criticism. Howeve r, the first shook 

seems to be over. The girls are still grumbling that there  ought to be 

partitions put in. 

Food 

The food has been very good, although not always plentiful . 

Weather 

The weather has been quite warm in the afternoon, although t hey say it's 

cool compared to what it's going to be. We all took a nap in the afternoon. 



Through the window in the shower room 

I was oit at E-6 this evening and talking with Tub, Ayako, an d Yoshiko 

Homma. Through the window of the shower room for men in fron t of us a naked 

figure could be seen. The window was just high enough to c ome only to about 

the waistline, and Ayako seemed disgusted, and changed  her seat in order not 

to look. Yaye came along and seemed rather curious. Som eone went in to tell 

the boys that they could be seen, and the retort was that th ey didn't care. 

Eventually the fellow at the window became dried up and put o n his pants..., 

Shodas 

We saw Alice working in the mess room this afternoon and fo und out her 

barraok and room numbers. This evening we dropped in to talk to them. There 

were just three of them in a long narrow room, formerly use d for stables. We 

talked for some time about the past and found oit somethi ng very interesting. 

In the first place we didn't expect to see them at this camp. We saw them on 

the train and were surprised. The last time we had seen t hem was just before 

we went back to Japan in 1933. Since then we had heard that the y had moved 

out to Los Angeles, but that was about all we knew. 

During the depression things became very hard for the Sho das. The water 

got below the hundred feet mark, and better turbines were neoessary to raise 

the water. This required more electricity and the motor br oke down now and 

then because of the added strain. The price of alfalfa, whi ch used to be as 

good as forty dollars a ton went down to six. They came o ut to L.A., but 

found it hard to find work at 16 cents an hour. All of the fa mily split 

up and worked in different homes for their living. Until ev acuation they had 

lived in Sierra Madre. For a while they lived in San Gabriel where Alice went 

to school for some time. 



Mr. S. talked most of the sake that he missed. He said that he u sed to 

spend about $1.50 per day for sake, about one-third of his i ncome. If he 

had smoked, too, he said that his wife and children would hav e starved. He 

didn't want to visit anybody else because he knew that the re wouldn't be any 
waiting 

sake/for him. His teeth had begun to hurt, and he was afraid that they were 

all going to come off. He said that they were kept in plac e by alcohol. He 

thought that after the war we should all go back to Japan and  find work in 

Java and the South Seas. 

Alice 

I remember Alice as a very shy girl who did not want to come oit to see 

us when we visited them last. I thought that since she was br ought up in a 

country town with very few Japanese that she would not be able to speak any 

Japanese at all, just like the Okimoto kids. I wondered h ow shy and naive 

and perhaps charming such a girl would be. But my expectation s were all upset. 

After she had come out to L.A. county she had to go to work a s a school girl. 

Then she went out to work as a waitress at Terminal Islan d. Here she worked 

for almost four years, and came to know seamen from all ove r the country. She 

heard the living conditions in various countries and the interests and 

preferences of the sailors of various races. She knew al most all of the 

American merchant marine, and when a ship was sunk worr ied because she knew 

someone on board. She was treated well by the Caucasians , and was allowed to 

go on board ship with passes. I heard her speak Japanese t o a lady, and 

realized that her mother had given her a very good Japanese training at home. 

All of my expectations were upset. She was neither shy nor naive. She had 

bought an icebox, stove, and furniture already, as her fat hop said, in readiness 

for her marriage. She was knitting a bed spread which wo uld cost her twenty 

dollars in material alone. 



Quarrel 

I heard a little more about the quarrel that disturbed t he dancing last 

night. At a volleyball game a Santa Maria fellow was on the Oxnard team. One 

of the Oxnard fellows got tough and shoved him out of the g ame. The Santa 

Maria fellows rallied around him and told him that he had a right to stay in 

the game just as muoh as anyone else. This quarrel was carr ied on to the 

dance floor, where both groups were represented. The Pasa dena kid3 seemed to 

want to stop the fight. I don't think that there was any actu al exchange of 

blows. 

Canteen and store 

At the canteen the only things they sell yet are soda pop, to bacco, and 

ice cream. Scrip books costing $2.50 must be bought in or der to buy anything 

at the canteen. 

Necessary things are being ordered through the mail from Sea rs and 

Montgomery Ward's. I understand that the P.O. does not acc ept anything else 

but P.O. money orders. They have asked that no articles be b ought C.O.D. 

Tidying up the place 

All of us have fixed up our beds and shelves, etc., so that t he place 

looks livable. At night curtains are put up to afford priv acy. So far the 

arrangement has worked out satisfactorily. Of course, we c an't have privacy 

when we are studying or reading a book, but on the whole it's  not so bad. 

Gardens have already sprung up here and there. This mor ning George 

checked out some tools wiil; ***:*oh to make our little plot on the back (south) 

side of our room. Mrs. T. has cut long weeds and tied them to gether to make a 

mat. The Japanese are clever, and they are showing it. Ki ngo has made places 

for tools in our "oloset," which is enclosed by a curtain at one corner of the 

room. 



p. Franks 

The day after we arrived, Ruby received a letter from Franks s eeing that 

his job with the WCCA was over and he had to look for another one . He says 

he wants to get into a camp and work with the Japanese. Rub y gives the 

impression that she doesn't want to write to him really, b ut that she's going 

to send a curt note. 

Gardens 

Yesterday a few people in our unit were making gardens and planting 

vegetables and flowers. Today, many more are at work, sp ading up the small 

plot of ground in front of and in back of their rooms. George b ecame ambitious 

and dug the back to plant vegetables—celery, pepper and ca rrots. At one place 

they have cleverly lined the border with tin cans from the mess hall. 

Mrs. T.cut some tall weeds and made a mat for the door. 

Lunch 

Corn, mixed salad, rice, apricots. 

Yaye at church 

May says that Yaye felt religious at the church service. 

Helen Osaka, Superintendent of Education 

Went to the main office to Helen about a teaching job. She h ad also 

sent for me on the same day to see whether I could teach ju nior business 

training and bookkeeping, which I couldn't. I asked abo ut other teaching jobs, 

but most of them seemed filled. I could have taught Algeb ra, but didn't want 

to spend full time on it. I got some statistics from her o n the number of 

sohool children. She sent me to the Social Welfare division for more data on 

the older groups. 

Miura, Social Welfare Division 

When I told Mr. M. that I was making a study of the camp and t hat I wanted 

some statistics, he was enthusiastic about helping me. He s aid that I should 

come to the office and stick around and hear the oases that came up. I suspeoted 

that he wanted my help in certain matters. He mentioned that  he might be 
'  \  I 



able to get a job for me in the welfare office. 

Typhoid shot 

Shots were given between 7 and 9. We went to the hospital righ t after 

we ate, and were able to get into line early. Half an hou r later the line was 

very long. We learned through waiting for the kitchen line that it pays to be 

there a little early rather than a little late. 

Heat pills 

I asked for seme heat pills, but was told that there weren 't any in 

stock. The nurse also said that if we felt bad that we should t ake aspirin 

and go to bed, but that if we wanted aspirin not to come to t he hospital 

unless we absolutely couldn't get it from our friends. 

Shodas 

We stopped at the Shodas again. Mr. S. had bought a local newspaper 

and scanned it for news of the war. He said that the radio was n't trustworthy 

because they didn't tell the truth because they had to sell goods. The news-

paper, he said, didn't tell all on the front pages, but fur ther inside gave 

the real news. He mentioned that the American fleet was pra ctically wiped out 

around Australia, and there was very little chance of resupp lying it from 

America. The Japanese fleet was destroyed, too, but was bein g supplemented 

from Japan. He thought that Germany would lose pretty soon and then the whole 

world would be against Japan. Japan, however, was prepa red for it. . 

Tuesday, May 15, 1942 

Typhoid effect 

The night before I started to get the chills and had to jump i nto bed. 

All night long I tossed in bed,probably because of the f ever. This morning 

I got up, feeling slightly dizzy and with a sore arm. I got up and washed my 

face and then stood in line to eat. But I felt so weak tha t I had to sit 

down on a box. The sun had already come out, and waiting for h alf an hour 
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did not make me feel any better. When I finally got my food , I didn't want 

to eat any longer. I brought it home, and lay on my bed. B efore noon I 

got up and ate the breakfast, and then lay on the bed again. By this time the 

room was pretty hot and almost unbearable. I went out an d stood in the shade 

with the Sameshimas for a while. I wasn't feeling so bad, b ut my head was 

slightly dizzy. For lunch we had beans and I could merely gulp a little of 

it down. Coming back I watered the floor and also around the do or. George, 

Ruby, Yaye, May, and Mrs. T. were all feeling bad and lying in bed. I took 

out wet towels and handkershiefs and wet them with ice wat er from ths 

kitchen an* put them on their heads. I kept changing them ev ery so often, 

until I was called to the welfare office. All the rest-of the day I felt 

slightly dizzy. 

Social Welfare Office 

Mr. Miura sent a messenger after me, and I went to see what i t was all about. 

He wanted me to hang around the office, whioh I did. The w ork was carried on 

in a leisurely fashion, with the secretary doing most of the work typing letters 

to be sent. The work seemed to consist mostly of accepting c omplaints of 

various sorts, and solving those that were in their jurisdi ction, and sending 

the others to the right authority. They allowed me to look t hrough the files 

of the complaints registered. They were mostly of urgent na ture, and nobody 

seems to have bothered to oomplain about such things as putt ing in partitions in 

the toilets, etc. The complaints were recognized as existi ng, and I believe 

they made a recommendation that toilet facilities be chang ed, but there are not 

enough complaints registered in proportion to the amount of discomfort felt by 

the camp members. 

Gambling 

Some kids were gambling right outside the office window. T hey were 

probably about 17 or 18 years of age. They were playing r ummy for five cents a 

game. 
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Church collection 

The problem of allowing church oollection at services was on file, and 

seemed to have caused some controversy. Mr. Miura was agai nst it entirely, 

saying that Church has always been tied up too closely wi th Capitalism. Helen 

was for it on the ground that funds were necessary. Rev. Taji ma's argument 

seems to be thit it is a necessary part of worship, a point o f view which seems 

to me very hypocritical. The administration objected on t he ground that it was 

"cash transaction." I argued that the church should be al lowed to gather funds 

to carry on its work. But I didn't think that they should be allowed to 

accumulate an indefinite amount of money, which would re sult from passing around 

the collection plate. Last Sunday, Mr. Miura, said, the col lection amounted to 

$62.00. The idea of putting money into a plate seemed to me too significant 

of profiteering, which was not to be allowed in the resett lement camps. We 

have to get used to this idea. Helen recognized this and said that collections 

would be a temporary matter, but that it would be necessar y for immediate use. 

They wanted three pianos, but are doubtful whether they 'll even get one. 

Eto Case 

I helped Mr. Mirua carry his booksjand we met Mr. Tajima o n the way. He 

mentioned Joseph as being a very good boy, but that lately he had begun to act 

queer. He thought it might be because of unbalanced relig ious training or 

some other explicable cause. He wanted an expert to keep h im under observation. 

About the oollection business, Mr. Miura told Rev. T. not to report it, 

but just to continue it until some protest arose. 

First scribbling on the Toilet 

Today I noticed for the first time a scribbling on the wal l of the toilet. 

An evening's jaunt with Yaye 

In the evening we were lying outside because it was much c ooler and 

soothing than in the room. After the rest had gone inside Yaye and I decided 
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to go out fcr a walk "down town." There was a Buddhist se rvice in Japanese for 

the elders, and we peeked inside to find Toshi Haramoto the re. We walked 

around and saw small groups sitting around. Nothing seeme d to be happening. 

Pasadena kids were together, and Chubby was with a girl. W e sat on the bleachers 

•for a while, and watched a few boys do judo. Then we stoppe d by the service 

again and sang the final Ondokusan with the group and came h ome with Toshi and 

her father. Her father said that the content of the sermon was good, but that 

his speech was not very good. 

We sat in front of Toshi»s room. Onion offered to bring us some lemonade 

from the mess hall, and Yaye and I were able to share a bottle . It was good. 

Kubo was sitting in front of the mess hall with some Sierra Ma dre fellows, and 

Yaye and Toshi called him over. They sat around and talk ed about this and that. 

Kubo kept talking about "my boys," as if he were the head o f a gang. He said 

that he ran around with the Oxnard kids. At the time of the  fight Saturday he 

said that he was in both gangs and had to see what was going to happen. 

Actually they seem to have made up and shaken hands. He want ed to know whether 

I was writing a lot of Yogi stuff in my diary. 

Yaye talked about how boring it was, with nothing to do. Sh e used too 

many expletives, I thought, in talking about the quietness of the bleachers and 

the taste of the lemonade. 
Thursday, May 20, 1942 

Breakfast 

Tomato juice, toast, creamed sausage, mush, milk-coffee , butter-jam. 

Scaring kid with Hakujin 
a 

There was/kid who was hanging on to his father. He was 8 or 9 ye ars of 

age, but didn't seem to be able to speak except in a queer sor t of mumble. He 

looked at a magazine sideways and read it off in a haphazard manner. He grabbed 

at some of the things lying around, and somebody tried to qu iet her by saying, 

"Hakujin no ojisan ga okoru kart!" 



Hakujin farmers 

We talked about the Hakujin farmers who had taken on the  Japanese farms 

and agreed that they were making a flop of it. The market pri ce didn't go 

up, possibly because the retail stores weren't selling as many vegetables since 

passing over into Caucasian hands. One person related that the  land was full of 

weeds after the Hakujins had taken over. I said that I didn' t know how the man 

who took over the 100 aores or so that I knew of would be  able to get along with 

just Mexicans. 

There was also talk about Hakujin farmers who wouldn't re lease his land because 

he knew that the Japanese would have to go out, and as a conse quence the Japanese 

had to leave their ripe patch of strawberries behind witho ut reaping any of the 

profits. He also said that the night before they had to leav e neighbors oame 

in and dug up all of the flowers on the premises. 

Third generation preference 
the 

It is not necessarily true that/third generation all grow up to be more 

Americanized than Niseis. One mother relates that her chil dren prefer 

oohazuke and okokoand sashimi. 

Shorts 

It's hot again today, and there has been an outburst of sho rts today 

among the girls. There was a danoe practice going on, and on e of the leaders, 

with voluptuous legs, was leading with high heels and a tigh t short on.... 

Dinner 

Beans, daikon and carrot salad, boiled onion, pumpkin pi e. 

Typing letter under the window 

As it was too hot even in the evening, I put out George's la mp on the 

window sill, brought out the canp ohair under the window and typed away there. 

It's rather conspicuous, but much cooler than inside. 
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Danoe by Pasadena group 

SomeoiB came to tell Yaye that there was a dance going on ton ight, but 

she was laid up with a splitting headache. She was eager t o know who all of 

the boys there were there. 

Bto case solution 

In this case it seemed that the father was the cause of t he family not getting 

along, and not Joe's fault, as Rev. T. seemed to think . Mr. Eto was declared to 

be a religious fanatic, and unable to get along with his fa mily. F. was advised 

to be moved into a separate room, to which he acceded. 

Thursday, May 21, 1942 

Telegram to go to Culelake 

COLONEL EVANS OFFERS TO ARRANGE TRANSFER OF WORKERS ON MY STUDY TO TULE LAKE 

AROUND JUNE FIRST. WOULD YOU CONSIDER TRANSFER DESIRABLE IN YOUR CASE? AM NOT 

SURE SITUATION RE FAMILY/ AIR MAIL YOUR REACTION: NAMES OF YOUR IMMEDIATE 

FAMILY: WHETHER YOU WOULD COME WITHOUT FAMILY. 

DOROTHY S. THOMAS 

I was practicing on Ruby's accordian when this telegram was delivered this 

morning. I was pleasantly surprised, but I didn't make much f uss about it. I 

asked those in the room what they thought about it. May tho ught that it would 

be good because if we went early we would have a good chance t o get good jobs. 

George and Ruby also were enthusiastic about going to Tule lake. We looked it 

up on a map end found it in Northern California near the C alif.-Oregon borderline. 

The fact that it's in the state of California was also in it s favor. Kingo also , It 

wanted to go, and said that he didn't want'to/be thought that he had deserted his 

Sierra Madre group. Yaye also said something like that, but said that she was 

thinking of her mother. I wrote mama a note explaining the situation to her. 

She said that she wasn't sure, but that if everyone wanted to go she'd have to. 

She really didn't have much against it, because it seemed to be the best place 
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of the five already selected. 

I sent an airmail to Dr. Thomas saying that I would like to go with the 

whole family if possible. Or with Ruby and George, or alone if necessary. 

Bottleneck in getting medical supplies. 

There seems to be a bottleneck in getting supplies for the h ospital as 

well as for other purposes. It seems that every requisitio n has to be sent to 

S.F., or further, before the Army releases the supply. T here's a lack of supplies 

even now in the hospital, in spite of the fact that the cam p is now 3 weeks old. 

The Mgr. of the camp is not an Army man, but a WPA man, I be lieve. Anyway, 

someone said ttet he thought that there was friction betw een the Army and the 

civilian elements in the WCCA set-up. Mr. Triggs, the Arm y man in charge at 

Manzanar, was cited as being able to get supplies because he was an army man. 

A letter from the Welfare office was sent to the division hea d, Mr. Stump, 

calling this situation to his attention. Cases of sick ness were cited. There 

was also talk of measles, athlete's foot, and T.B. 

Men in Women's toilets 

There has been a report of men in women's toilets by Hele n K. She said 

that the police had also advised women not to go out to the toilet alone. One 

couple had actually seen a man slip into a women's toile t. They waited for 

some time, but he did not come out. Pretty soon a lady or a girl went in from 

the other side, and quickly came out screaming. Still the m an did not come out.... 

Athlete's foot in shower 

Cases of athlete's foot are said to have developed. They ha ve requisitioned 

for regular foot baths, but because they have not arrived t hey are supposed to 

put in temporary ones soon. Helen K. related that the mot hers are now bathing 

the babies in the laundry room because they do not trust th e sanitation of the 

shower rooms. She cited one child as not being able to walk b ecause the foot 

was so badly diseased. 



Dinner 

The dinner tonight was simple and good. The mixed salad was especially 

delicious. Mixed salad bowl,  hash,  rice, jello with fruit. 

Work 

Worked with the welfare office again today. I»m practica lly an accepted 

member of the staff in the place. I finished the age, sex, and oitizenship 

tabulation today. Tomorrow I'm going to 3tart on the occup ational tabulation. 

Many problems of a confidential sort are discussed at the desk. 

Short wave reports 

There are reports of a short wave broadcast that the Americ an fleet around 

Australia has been destroyed. 

Study of Attitudes 

Mr. Liiura suggested that I study the attitudes of the var ious people in 

the camps, and one girl thought that it was better not t o do so because it 

would be dangerous. We discussed how the newsp^ers had dis torted 30 much of 

the new3. 

Change of attitude 

One man said that he had loved America, but that he had cha nged his mind 

when citizens were evacuated. 

Yaye goes out to see a volley ball game 

Yaye must have been feeling well tonight. There was to be a volley ball 

game between Englewood and Pasadena, and she was "primping up" to go out to 

see it with Toshi H. She wore her slacks for the first time. Vfh en asked how 

she felt in them, 3he said, "Funny." Because she looked poor ly in them. And 

I agreed with her. 

Stool for kids to urinate 

The kiddies in the M section got a break today when someon e put in a stool 

in one corner of the urinary trough for them to stand on. 
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Walk, weight-lifting, judo 

George, Rub/, and I went out for a walk in the evening as us ual. Instead 

of seeing anyone, we just walked around. First we stopped  to see a volley 

ball game in the K section. A little kid, about 3 or 4 came b y alone and 

tried to hang on the net. T took him off, and handed him to Ruby because he was 

so cute. He spoke Japanese just like a Japanese kid, and spo ke a Tokyo dialect, 

too. He also wore kimono and geta just like someone in Jap an. We found the 

mother and handed her the kid and then went on. I saw Shig etomi and Fumiko 

together. They were together the last time I saw them in Pasad ena J.C. two 
a 

years ago. There was/weight-lifting contest or something going on in K-5, and a 

orowd gathered to watch. When we left they were lifting 150 l b'ers. By the 

playground we saw Toshi and Shiz, Yaye and Kubo, but the y went off some place 

by themselves. Yaye didn't get in till 10.30. We sat and wa tched the judo 
a 

practice for/while. There were about seven practising. Geo rge wanted to get 

hold of a judogi to practise in. I said that I didn't think th at I wanted to, 

because it would be too much strain, after not having practi sed for a long time. 

Evening clouds 

The sunset scenery tonight was lovely. The color changed fr om blue to 

red, and a row of trees darkly silhouetted against the c olored background was 

beautiful. 

Kingo misses a job 

Kingo had applied for a job as teacher of algebra. He hasn 't a oollege 

degree, but has been working along aeronautic lines for some time, and seems 

to be good Fit it. May was sputtering tonight because the j ob had gone to Michi, 

whom she says was a produce man for some years and without a d egree, just like 

Kingo. She thought the girl in charge was dumb, and it wa s all unfair. She 

thought that she'd go and tell her that. Then we began to say that she must have 

chosen M. because Helen thought him cute and not married.  Sinoe he is a married 

man, we said that it would serve her righfc if she were disap pointed. 

k 



Foot bath 

There was a foot bath in a metal container tonight. There wer e so many-

people in the shower that the water was absolutely cold. 

Joe Eto 

We saw Joe out with a girl again tonight. Met him also in the  shower room 

and he seemed quite happy. 

Measles 

Yaye reports two cases of measles in the M section. 

Friday, May 22, 1942 

Breakfast 

Went to breakfast early as worker. I didn't have a tag, but no one stopped 

me. Bacon, French toast, mush, milk. 

Death 

Last night a paralytic man died about ten o'clock. He is repor ted to have 

been paralyzed by drinking too much alcoholic liquor. The wake service (otsuya) 

is to be held tonight by Rev. Imamura. The funeral takes p lace tomorrow 

morning in a cemetery nearby designated recently by the A rmy. 

Office supplies from local store 

The Welfare Offioe had requisitioned supplies long ago, b ut have had to 

borrow what they needed from the main office. When we ran ou t of paper, Bob 

would be sent out after it. Butch, heading Family Relatio ns, seems to have asked 

the Polioe Chief to go out and get necessary supplies for h im. The Chief came 

back on a bicycle with the things, and I believe that Butc h paid for them 

personally. A ream of poor typing paper, not heavier th an 14 lbs., was tagged . 

|1.25. I don't think that it should have sold in the store f or more than 60 

or 70 cents. There was a mark where the old tag might have bee n torn off. It 



68. 

didn't have the Bond mark, and positively couldn't have bee n worth more than 

$1.00. One thousand sheets of yellow copy paper was pric ed at $1.50. A pack 

of mimeograph stenciis cost Bufcch $3.50. 

Ladies' toilet inspected 

Masami Takemoto, George's friend from Ventura, was appoint ed to inspect the 

sanitary conditions around the camp. He is supposed to l ook around and then make 

reports to the office. He insists that he is not telling peop le what to do, 

because he does not like that sort of work. He was going into a women's toilet 

to do some inspecting, and I followed him in. The toilet was b uilt exactly the 

same as that for the men. It was not very clean, dust havi ng gathered on the 

seat. He told a lady and a girl who came by that he was goin g to report it, 

when the girl remarked that she was one of those who were goi ng to do it in the 

afternoon. For the boys there's a crew working to clean t he toilets, and 

according to Masami only one person from each room (? or barr ack) is required 

to help the crew clean the toilet each day. The girls, howev er, still clean 

their own toilets voluntarily on a cooperative basis. 

The woman complained that they tried to keep the toilet cl ean, but found 

it difficult. The central trough was washed by the water onl y in the middle, 

and material piled near the edge. She suggested that a boar d be nailed in front 

on which their feet could be placed, thus enabling them to s it back farther. This 

was also necessary for little children. She also hinte d at the danger of children 

falling through the hole. 

The seat in the farthest corner was completely partitioned , and a curtain 

hung for the passageway. May says that this is done for the M toilet also, 

remarking that it was necessary. When I explained to the la dy that these toilets 

were made for the Army, as we we re to be here only temporari ly, they were made 

according to Army specifications. She seemed to feel enligh tened about'the 

matter. No doubt it had puzzled her until then. 

Geta making 

I came back from the Welfare Office at noon, because I had my typhoid shot 
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in the morning. I didn«t want to feel faint and then hav e to walk home in the 

heat. Last night I had picked up a piece of 2 x 4 in the ol d Welfare Office, 

where they were putting in partitions for the new education al classes to be 

begun soon. The earlier part of the afternoon I put into cons tructing my 

geta. I think I put the legs too far forward, after seeing  some made by others, 

but on the whole I think that it's pretty good. It's too hea vy and not wide 

enough, but it will serve the purpose of carrying me to t he shower room and back. 

I used our hammer, saw, chisel, knife, and file to make it. Many of the neighbors 

have made them, too. One that I saw seemed exactly like a real one, and not 

homemade. 

Old man 

- Talked to an old man as I was making a geta. He said tha t he came from San 
a 

Gabriel and that he was retired. His son was working in a Japa nese bank, 

receiving about #200.00 a month. He did not seem disturbed a bout the situation 

at all. He related that he came to Canada when he was about twenty. He worked 

at cutting lumber one season, but wasn't paid for it at all.  He doesn't know 

whether it was the Japanese contractor or the Caucasians that used up the money. 

Nosaka and kibei son 

Met Mr. Nosaka today in the shower. For a moment I wasn't sure where I had 

seen him last. Then I remembered that he was the gardener wh o was trying to get 

his Kiboi son into a school in Pasadena, but couldn't thi nk of his name. He had 

to tell it to me. We spoke mostly of his son. He said that af ter that effort 

he made to get his son into a high school and finally into ju nior college, it 

became too difficult for him and he was forced to drop the cla ss. After that for 

a while he was taking private lessons from Mr. Goto, at the  same time going to 

a night class for foreigners, which was too easy for him. H e even went out to 

Arcadia to try to get him into the school there, but faile d. Then he put him to 
% 

work, helping in the gardening work. He emphasized that h e didn't want to do it, 

but there seemed very little else that could be done. Co ming to the camp he 
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thought was a good opportunity to get some studying done. H e had already 
\ 

enrolled for classes in high school to be conducted here. M r. N. mentioned that 

his son was too quiet to go out and make friends. There's n o use in trying 

to riake money now, he also said. 

Letter from Dr. Gundlach 

In answer to my second report Dr. G. sent me a good critical letter. Evidently 

my writing was sloppy, both grammatically and as to ref erence to specific details. 

After he read the report there were many things in his mind that were not clear. 

He kindly offered to point out the grammatical errors to me . He wants to know about 

the growth and development of the organization of the new community. Organization. 

Saltpeter a rumor 

Dr. G.writes as if putting saltpeter in the food is merely a  rumor. 

Letter from Dr. Thomas 

Received an airmail from Dr. T. via Sierra, dated May 13, sa ying that she 

wants me to' be on her payroll "however small the pay may be." She sent an out-

line of the ground ttet is to be covered, although it's onl y tentative. I never 

realized how much there is to find out, and how little of i t I've been able to 

unearth so far. I'll have to get busy a little more and dig arou nd for more 

information. 

Reverend Imamura visits 

Reverend Imamura came to see me this afternoon. He wanted me to represent 

the Buddhists in a conference that is to be held between the Christians and the 

Buddhists. It was, as I understand it, arranged by the Reli gious Department. 

We agreed that we should share what equipment we have an d use the same building. 

Rev. Imamura ^as willing to do things on a cooperative basis . I ridiculed the 

passing of the collection plate carried on by the Christian s as being opposed to 

the spirit of the camp life here. 



Looking up resettlement areas on map 
� * 

We looked up the various locations for resettlement camp s in George's soil 

map in his Soils and Men. We learned that Tulelake was proba bly peat bog land, 

surrounded by dry land. The climate was good in the summer, but with a long cold 

winter, but sunny. Around Parker Dam it was red desert soil, b ut many things 

could be grown if water were available. There would be tor rential showers in the 

summer, and the rest in the winter. The summers are long a nd very hot. Idaho 

was a little better, and was not extreme either way. 

Dinner 

Fried rice, celery, cake, stewed tomato, pea stew. It was good. 

Mrs. Nishimura 

Mrs. Nishimura was originally from Hawaii, and therefore speaks with an 

accent yet. She is a Buddhist. Her Sansai children, she r elates, like sashimi, 

ochazuke and koko. When I told her that I was a Buddhist, s he seemed to be glad. 

She talked about forming Sunday school classes as we ha d formerly. 

Kimi Nakanushi 

Kimi is the cute quiet secretary that is always working in t he office. 

She smiles, but she says hardly anything, unless it is ab solutely necessary. 

She's a Buddhist, too. Mrs. N. mentioned that she was quie t but was capable 

of teachirg s.s. class. Went out to lunch with Mr. Miura an d Bob, and Mr. M. said 

that Miss Nakanishi was a very good girl. She was quiet bu t efficient. Bob said 

that he knew that she was good. 

Typhoid shot 

We took our shot in the morning so that we'd be well by Satu rday evening 

when the dance would  be, held.  There was little effect on  i/ie,  except that I 

had a little headache in the evening and went to sleep early. Yaye didn't feel 

too bad either. George and Ruby were asleep almost all day . Ruby's arm was 

still swollen the next day and George still complained of a  headache. 
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Mieko Sugimachi 

Mrs. Sameshima came to n.e in the evening as I was typing out side and told 

me something about Mieko. She had heard this from the Saka guchi's who had received 

a letter from Mrs. S. Mieko is being put into a Catholic home , and it was 

speculated whether she could be called to the camp here and taken care of by the 

Pasadena neighbors. I think that they weren't willing to take the whole 

responsibility. I said that it would be difficult to get M ieko here because she 

wasn't anybody's relation. Mrs. S. seems worried about Mie ko. 

Sierra Madre's dancing history 

In the evening I had a slight headache, but I lay on the bed and talked with 

Yaye, who was doing the same thing. She related that da ncing had been begun by 

Tomoye's group, the oldest children in the community. It wa s when they were in 

junior high school. They got together for something at Ja panese school and some-

body suggested that they dance. That seems to have been th e beginning. At that 

time Yaye was about 11 or 12. They held dances at Japanese school, inviting people 

from Pasadena, usually. When Tomoye was about in the 11th g rade, the Sierra 

Madre group went to an outside dance in Burbank for the fir st time. Yaye says 

that three-quarters or two-thirds of the S.M. group take part in these dances. 

Helen Nomura 

Helen was also discussed. Yaye said that she had changed a lo t since she came 

back from Japan. At the time she was only about 12, with stra ight hair, and very 

quiet. She couldn't get along with her folks very well becau se, I think, she had 

been away from them too long. She used to go around with Yay e quite a bit. She 

rather liked Kingo, but the feeling was not reciprocated. Then she began to go 

around with a Miss Hohri. She was reputed to kiss, etc., whic h was considered bad 

by Yaye and her group. After that Yaye didn't see her v ery much. She was surprised 

to see her later, vivacious and jolly. She thought that muc h of it was put on, 

because she couldn't help contrasting Helen with the quiet Helen that she knew. 



73. 

May say8 that Helen gets along wonderfully with Hakujins , and that they think 

that she is just wonderful. One reason for Helen's action is that her family 

is of the pariah class. They are reputed to be generous and impressive. 

Helen went up north, Yaye says, because she didn't have a c hance with the fellows 

here, who probably knew too muoh about her. She married an A merican, and this 

can be considered a solution that she worked out for herse lf. 

Kimi 

Yaye also discussed Kimi's change. When she was small she us ed to be vivacious 

and bold. She was pretty and popular with everyone. In he r adolescence she was 

teased for her hairiness, around the lips, for instance, an d this seems to have 

made her the quiet shy girl that she is today. Yaye says tha t Kimi tries to hide her 

mouth when she is in front of people. 

Yaye 

Yaye fumbled last night in putting on her pajamas. Her ri ght arm hurt her, 

and she couldn't get into her night clothes easily. Her mot her was away, and I 

offered to help her, and she said, "Don't you dare." If we w ere married, she 

said, she might let me, but no. Yaye says that she used to b e funny looking and 

spindly when she was small, and was self-conscious about i t. She used to tag 

around with her sister and her friends, and was teased by them when she became 

more bold (concerning boys, I believe). 

May asked to sing 

A neighbor came around to say that there was going to be an ente rtainment and 

that he wanted May to sing. As May wasn't home, we let it go at that. I advised 

classic songs that had been popularized so that people woul dn't go to sleep. 

Another neighbor came to say that she wanted May to teach Mar y to sing. May 

says she'll start her class and doesn't give a darn about He len Osaka. 



Jimmy Sakamoto 

Jimmy S. came in while we were in bed and sat on Yaye's bed and  talked to her. 

After he left, Yaye and I discussed him. She wanted to know what I thought of him. 

I thought that he was a pretty well rounded personality. He was an only child and 

a Christian and quite religious, according to Yaye. He w as going to Cal Tech. His 

mother used to discourage his going out too much because she wanted him to study. 

If he's learned to dance, it's only recently. He used to go around with Yaye a 

great deal, and it used to be well-known in the community. He  used to buy little 

things for her, in spite of her protests. She always used to go out with other 

fellows too, and had to avoid him when coming home from Jap anese school sometimes. 
used 

He always /to  come after her in the morning. But he was younger than Yaye , and she 

did not want to get serious with him. She refused to go ou t with him about twice 

in a row, and he became angry and didn't see her for some ti me. He saw more of 

another family where there was a boy and a girl of Yaye's age, with whom he seems 

to have gotten along well. Yaye and Jimmy are now "good frien ds." 

Lack of newspaper 

The Tulare News doesn*t seem to be coming out on schedule. So far we've 

received only one copy. There is no Japanese section in it, an d any news that is 

spread must be carried by way of mouth. Births and deaths, f or instance, are 

spread by this means. 

Saturday, May 23, 1942 

Food 

Breakfast: scrambled eggs, 2 toast, mush, jam, milk. The sugar was slow 

in being distributed. It came just as breakfast was begi nning to be served. Sho 

slipped me a bottle of milk, although I could have gotten some from the pitcter. 

Yaye and Ruby ate in bed. 

Shower 

Took a shower as soon as I got up this morning. Last night I h adn't taken 

it because I wasn't feeling any too well. The water was hot, and there was 

nobody else in the shower with me. 
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Ayako Matsumoto 

W© discussed how Ayako had changed. When she first came b ack from Japan (she 

must have been around 20 then), she is said to have been ver y shy. She was working 

for Mrs. Baker, and she was shy about saying things. Mrs. Bak er didn't know, she 

told May, what Ayako thought when she was offered tea, for ins tance. Since then 

she has become quite expressive, saying just what she pl eases a great deal of the 

time. She is talkative now, and seems to have very few inh ibitions. Prom a 

psychologist's point of view she is very healthy mentall y. Helen N. is said to 

have credited herself with the change that Ayako went thr ough. But there are probably 

more important external or internal factors. The fact tha t she considered herself 

more cultured than most Niseis, that she didn't get along s o well with her mother, 

all had some influence. Now that her mother is in a concentr ation camp by herself, 

she feels guilty that she didn't treat her better before and m isses her because 

she has to do everything by herself now. She is said to have  told her mother not 

to come out into the living room when she was having guest s. She is now a capable 

song leader, and is said to have conducted the community s ing last night quite 

successfully. 

Work for George 

George's friend, Masami Takemoto, came over yesterday to i nform George that he 

had spoken to a man about a job for him. A gardening proj ect is being planned, 

and George seemed to have a good chance for it. This morning G eorge went to see 

the man, and he was assigned to work under a cranky man in charge of the seedlings 

and plants. 

Supplies from Tulare 

Yaye says that she heard that people in Tulare won*t sell a nything to the 

Japanese. Today a great number of circulars came into the cam p for distribution 

to the ocoupants from a store in Tulare called Linder's. Tuny, who seemed to be in 

charge, said that the store had a special franchise on the c amp business, or 

something. He thought that it was all politics. 
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Kumi, secretary 

Kumi was dissatisfied with her job in the Welfare Office, because, she said, 

she wasn't given enough to do. She even applied for a permis sion to change her job. 

But she's staying on now, and seems to be satisfied. I told Yaye that she was 

being kept on because she has a good typewriter, which i s only a half-truth. 

Shortage of toilet paper 

This morning there was no paper in the men's toilet in the M se ction. Later 

there was some, but I don't know how it was all day long. A sign was posted in 

the morning that there be no wasting of toilet paper. 

Church conference 

A conference was held this morning at 11 to determine how facilities would be 

arranged for the religious groups. Mr. Stump, head of the Service Division, Mr. 

Asakura, his assistant, the Religious Committee, repr esentatives from the Buddhists 

and Christian groups were there. Mr. Miyake did most of t he talking. The Christian 

group requested that they have rooms for the Sunday school in the morning on Sunday, 

a place for the young people's servioe in the evening, and a service for the elders 

in the morning. They said that they would be willing to use f acilities when the 

Buddhists were not using them. 

It was disclosed that the three recognized churches insi de the camps were 

Protestants, Buddhists, and Catholics. Missionary work,  it was said, could be 

done as a group, but not for different sects. 

An observation was made that the Christian groups seemed more fully recognized. 

For every one request for facilities that the Buddhists mad e the Christians had 

ten, Asakura said. He wanted to see to it that the Budd hists were given equal 

treatment. Grace said that their group was fully organized and that there was 

nothing that they needed for the present. When questioned  as to benches and chapels, 

they had to admit that they still needed them. 
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Facilities for church groups 

The first discussion concerned the problem of having a cha pel or not. It was 

agreed upon readily that any faoility would be used coope ratively by all church 

groups. The desirability of a chapel where benches and a pia no would be available 

was disoussed. Both groups thought it was desirable, but Mr . Stump pointed out 

that it would be a waste of space to have the benches in the h all all of the time, 

as this would make it hard to use the room for other recreat ional purposes, which 

did not require the use of benches. And since the type of b enches that could be 

stacked against the wall could not be made at present, d ue to lack of supplies, he 

discouraged the idea of a chapel. 

He outlined the plan made for an open air gathering place, by bringing the bleachers 

into a U shape, and placing a platform in front of it. He though t that this could 

be used for the services and also for other types of enterta inments and meetings. 

He thought that this could substitute for the chapel, when t he school 

rooms were too small. He said that on Sundays all of the schoo l rooms would be 

available, three barracks of them. 

The religious committee wanted to know the number of child ren in Sunday school 

so that the school rooms and other facilities could be all ocated fairly between 

the two groups. 

Piano 

The Christians brought in a piano from Pasadena. Mr. Stump t hought that the 

Buddhists wo Id be allowed to use it. Grace said that word ha d been sent to Jane 

that we could use it. They seemed anxious to be nice to us. 

Collection Plate 

The question of the collection plate came up. Free will off erings, Mr. Stump 

said, were allowed. Whether collections were free will or no t should be 

determined by the religious committee, he said. He though t that the contention 

that offerings were a part of the worship should be conside red. I said that the 

Buddhists did not want to take up a oolleotion. The Christia ns said that they 

decided not to take up any collections. 



Camp figures 

I browsed around  in the  Tulare News office today and found some useful 

information on the bulletin board. 

171 barracks 

21 baths 

11 mess halls 

30 latrines 

3 hospitals 

5 laundries 

Santa Barbara -- 80 families, 350 people plus 20 single 

Santa Maria -- 375 people 

Guadalupe -- 800 people 

The above two together, 410 families 

Arroyo Grande --35 families, 150 people 

Lompoc --29 families, 138 people 

Ventura — 216 families, 969 people, 65 are single men. 

Tulare News 

Talked to the head of the Tulare News. He was griped because he couldn't 

get any supply from the office. All of the supplies, he says, t hey've had to 

furnish for themselves so far. They had sent for some sup plies to L.A., but 

they hadn't arrived yet. They are behind schedule, and a  whole newspaper is 

stenciled and all ready to be run off, but they haven't the p aper yet. 

The editor said that he had worked on a newspaper in Hawaii, L.A., and S.F. 

He was also griped because some of the office men came into h is department 

and told him what to print. Some of the articles that Mr. Stu mp had approved for 

printing he did not print, he said, though he probably had good reasons for it. 



He spoke of the Hakujins who went into the office and oame out with a mahogany 
he 

desk and a swivel chair, while/had to go out and get his equipment without the 

permission of others. He said that they didn't allow him to use the next room, 

which was necessary for him to do quiet work, even when the r oom remained idle. 

Hawaii 

He believes that Hawaii is better than America. "What can you do over anyway?" 

he says. I pointed out that most Hawaiians wanted to come to  the mainland, and he 

couldn't deny that they did before they came over and found ou t how it was. 

Crew 

He said that his crew was made up of high school kids, an d he had to teach 

them everything. Some of them could report, but could not write. Others could 

write, but could not report. Still/others could only typ e. Therefore, he said, 

he had to have more people on the staff. However, only five w ere paid. The 

number on his staff was chosen without even consulting him , he said. 

Canteen 

Oranges are selling at the Canteen now for 18 cents a dozen. Buthh treated 

Yaye, Mrs. Nishimura and me to soda pops. He also took out so me osushi from his 

pocket and offered it to us. He said that it had oome from Oros i. It tasted 

awfully good. 

Dinner 

Roast beef, mashed potato, peas, and raw onion. 

Yaye 

Yaye received a picture of Seichi Okazaki today, and she showed it to me, as 

if she were proud of it. She also went to show it to Toshi, I b elieve. She says 

that he's a good friend of Pete's. 
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Thursday,  May 14, 1942 

Student relocation (from Jeanne Booth, 5/21/42) 

"The Service comm. is picking up steam regarding the stude nt relocation from 

the camps — and as you know the AFSC were asked by the Governm ent to take it over. 

They are plannirg to act wisely and with an eye to future re settlement so this 

involves preparing the way in many cases -- thus the whole t hing may move more slowly 

than some would wish, but it seems that in a matter as tickl ish as this now that 

slowness at present may add up to more in the long run. I'm no au thority on what, 

how, and the policy of the business. That's all Dad's line, but I do glean 

information here and there. For instance yesterday they le t me attend the Japanese-

American comm. of the Service comm. so I sat in on some policy -forming and future 

plans, Government reactions, etc., etc. The thing is d efinitely moving and friends 

feel that through wise student relocation may come the educ ating of the public 

to resettlement. Here's  hoping I" 

Jeanne's interest in camp conditions 

"We're so glad you're writing us openly, honestly and natura lly. Naturally 

we appreciate your coirage, lack of complaint, and willin gness to understand 

conditions — it's a trait others can profitably copy — but it  is enlightening also 

to hear first-hand information re conditions and your react ions to them. We were 

afraid it would prove a terrific let-down, and we had hoped that some of the 

conditions would be remedied before your arrival — but it was n't so. In any case 

you know how we feel, how very much we miss you and all our Jap anese-American friends, 

and that you are always in our thoughts. Enuf of that.'" 

"I would like to ask some very specific questions. This  business of walking 

,  to mess and standing in line to get enuf to eat — must old p eople or lame folk 

or very little ohildren also do this? If so can you Nisei w ork out some plan to 

make it easier for them? What about special diets? — are th ey allowed by Dr.'s 

orders? How is the health in camp — any dysentery? Can food b e sent in? — it 

can't at Santa Anita, you know." 
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Letter from Santa Anita (Georgia, 4/20/42) 

"I presume itfe hot over there. It was 98 degrees F. here yes terday (19th). 

We are all so sunburned you wouldn't recognize us. I'll  bet." 

New partitions 

"We were so busy last week. You see these barracks were divid ed into 3 parts, 

but they halved every section and now it holds six familie s. We are so crowded, 

what with four beds and all the junk, inoluding Ted's bike, wa gon, and Larry's 

buggy that we just barely have room to walk around. The wal ls are made of pine, 

I think. Anyway, whatever it is, the pitch oomes out, so it's terrible. We 

can't hang anything on the wall without covering it firs t. And besides the boards 

are full of notches, and they dry up aid fall off. Therefore, there are plenty of 

airholes to make us shiver at night. Also for kids to peek in." 

Food taken away 

They are going to take our stove and all our provisions, pe rishable and non-

perishable, away from us. I still can't understand why. I do n't know how I'm 

going to keep my children's health  because,  as I wrote before, Teddy doesn't eat a 

darn thing at the mess hall besides milk. At first I thoug ht it was Teddy's fault 

for being so particular, but everyone with ohildren betw een the ages of about six 

and seven complains. I don't blame themj even I wouldn't eat it if I weren't so 

hungry. 


